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Vision, Mission and Values

Vision Statement

Mission Statement
“To enhance shareholder value by pursuing areas that leverage
off our core investment in ICT”.

Values
ATH's values are:

Integrity
Practising good corporate governance and being faithful
to our stakeholders.

Accountability
Helping our stakeholders understand how we make
decisions, taking ownership and being answerable and
responsible for our actions.

Innovation
Being at the forefront of product development and
offerings.

Efficiency
Delivering on time, and getting things right the first time.

Effectiveness
Ensuring that our business is aligned with, and ultimately
contributes to, the achievement of our vision.

“To be an internationally competitive ICT investment
company in the Pacific”.

Goals
ATH’s goals are:

• Enhance shareholder value.

• Exploit convergence between the information and
telecommunication sectors to enter new areas of business.

• Acquire existing businesses or create and invest in newly
established businesses to achieve growth.

• Become a company operating internationally and
prominent in the Pacific.

• Adopt international best practices, standards and
methods of operation.
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Building for Future Growth

ver the past three years, ATH has concentra-
ted on consolidating parts of the Group to
ensure our focus remained on core strengths

and businesses. While this has been a challenging
task with many tough decisions to be made, the
result is that our individual subsidiaries and the
Group as a whole remain solid, despite the increa-
sing and diverse pressures within the ICT indus-
try in Fiji and the Pacific region that have impac-
ted our companies and overall results. At the sa-
me time, ATH has continued to expand its horiz-
ons and has seized investment opportunities that
the ICT revolution in the Pacific is providing.

Over the past few years we have been shedding
legacy platforms which are cumbersome and exp-
ensive. This has led to a commercial solution for
both the Group and its customers, by bringing
about cost savings, consolidation, improved effi-
ciencies, faster service delivery, increased speed
and performance, better visibility and monito-
ring, and new capabilities for future services.

Fiji's economic prospects look stable in the medi-
um term with the economy expanding by 2.5%
in 2012; growth for 2013 is forecast at 2%, driven
mainly by tourism and higher public capital expe-
nditure. At the end of 2012, inflation was at
1.3%, the lowest in 13 years. As in previous years,
the global economic downturn, and particularly
the European financial crisis, as well as other in-
country factors continue to have an impact on
Fiji and on the ATH Group but the resilience of
our Group has meant that overall we have weath-
ered these impacts reasonably well.

The country's propensity to suffer from natural
disasters has also affected the Group, with the
economic setbacks experienced after Cyclone
Evan in December 2012, coming on the back of
widespread floods in the Western Division earlier
in the year. In hindsight, ATH's decision to consol-
idate and restructure its companies earlier on has
proven far-sighted in light of these disasters.

The past year saw major adjustments and miles-
tones across the board. This included the restru-
cture of FINTEL after ATH's acquisition of 49%
shareholding in the company. The World Bank-

O

Today, technology and capabilities change and progress as never before - requiring
companies such as ours to be visionary, focused and prepared. The speed of such change
is no longer in days, weeks or months, it is in the present moment.
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supported submarine cables scheme for Pacific
Island nations has finally begun rolling out. FIN-
TEL will in June 2013 have connected Tonga to
the Southern Cross Cable Network (SCCN) thro-
ugh its landing station at Vatuwaqa. This means
that Tongans will have access to high-speed comm-
unications through the only fully protected fibre
optic cable network linking Australia, New Zea-
land, Fiji and Hawaii directly to the heart of the
Internet on the US West Coast. It also brings to
fruition a Pacific ICT plan that was first mooted
in 2001 not long after FINTEL became connected
to the SCCN and reinforces Fiji's status as the
regional telecommunications hub, a core concept
driving our Pacific expansion. FINTEL is also
expecting to soon link Vanuatu to the network
and traffic revenues earned from these connec-
tions should have a flow-on effect for ATH.

Hyperconnectivity as mentioned earlier is trans-
forming the world of ICT and societies in general.
It is introducing new opportunities to increase
the productivity and well-being of society by red-
efining how business is conducted, generating
new products and services, and improving the
manner in which public services are delivered.
This has enabled us to live in a world where the
distinction between rural and urban is losing its
meaning. It has broken down boundaries of both
time and space, bringing people and things togeth-
er from all parts of the world at any given time.
Hyperconnectivity has also given rise to a glob-
alised "168" world, where the work day continues
around the clock, 24 x 7, or 168 man hours per
week. Equipping mankind with the knowledge
and tools necessary to compete and be more prod-
uctive in this fast paced world is upon us now.

Global Telecommunication Outlook

Let me quote from the annual report published
by the The International Telecommunications
Union (ITU). “The ITU estimates on global fixed
lines are indicative of a worldwide declining trend
at 1.16 billion as at the end of 2011 when comp-
ared to 1.21 billion in 2009. Wireless service
subscriptions worldwide as of November 2011
were approximately 5.9 billion and expected to
grow rapidly, as low cost service providers are
offering low enough prices that are affordable for
consumers in emerging markets.

ATH has continued to
expand its horizons

and has seized
investment

opportunities that
the ICT revolution in the Pacific is

providing.
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ITU having understood the importance of access-
ibility to broadband services and the lack thereof
in the developing countries, has introduced a
policy document outlining four significant targets
to be achieved by 2015: 1) Making broadband
policy universal where all countries should have
a national broadband plan or strategy or include
broadband in their universal access/service (UAS)
definitions, 2) Through adequate regulation and
market forces, entry level broadband services
should be made affordable in developing count-
ries, 3) Connecting homes to broadband, where
40 per cent of households in developing countries
should have Internet access, 4) Internet user pene-
tration should reach 60 per cent worldwide, 50
per cent in developing countries and 15 per cent
in Least Developed Countries (LDCs)”.

ATH is continuing its expansionary vision that
aims to place the company at the forefront of the
ICT sector regionally. This move comes at an imp-
ortant juncture for the Group with the Asia-
Pacific region ranking as the most dynamic and
fast-moving regions of the world in ICT develop-
ment. ICT growth in Asia and the Pacific is surpa-
ssing global ICT growth rates in all key indicators
and ATH is well positioned to capitalise on the
benefits of such explosive growth.

Subsidiary Results

Fiji Directories Limited has shown encouraging
results with a net profit after tax of $1.4 million,
an increase of 32.14% when compared to last
year. This is attributed to an increase in sales of
both its print directory and online product. Taki-
ng advantage of the growth in online activity,
FDL has continued to boost its website offerings
and is opening up other revenue streams that
should hold the company in good stead for future
growth.

FINTEL's revenues declined by 36.9% for the
reported year largely due to the loss suffered from
its international voice services after the deregu-
lation of the market. Although costs of sales dec-
lined as well it was not enough to nullify the
impact of the declining revenues hence the red-
uction of net by 23.2%. The company also impa-
ired its assets totalling $7.9 million due to
unfavourable market conditions.

Some improvement is expected with the comple-
tion of its cable links with other Pacific countries
and the completion of its restructure.

Telecom Fiji Limited recorded an inspiring 9%
revenue increase, a turnaround after five years of
profit erosion. Of significant impact on the com-
pany was the $800,000 loss it sustained in the
cyclone that hit Fiji in December 2012 but the
company was able to improve its position, cutting
losses by $7.8 million on the previous financial
year. Landline connections maintained a declining
trend, as is the case globally, but this decline has
now slowed. The structural changes to the com-
pany have brought about some positive develop-
ments and the challenge for TFL is to prevail over
these operational adjustments.

Vodafone Fiji Limited continues its strong perfo-
rmance in all key areas including a fourth straight
year of growth. Completing its network-wide
upgrade to third-generation (3G) capacity ahead
of schedule resulted in a write-down of the deco-
mmissioned assets valued at $69 million. The
upgrade takes 3G coverage to 95% of the popul-
ation, and provides increased capacity for high-
speed data connections and voice calls. Voice and
SMS continue to provide the bulk of revenues,
but data products and services are becoming incr-
easingly prominent. VFL has grown its subscriber
base by 11% and its M-PAiSA money transfer ser-
vice has been integrated into an e-ticketing system
that is being used by the majority of bus operators
in Fiji.

Truly great companies are not just known by their
brands but by how they make people feel, how
they impact lives and how they improve the com-
munities they are part of. The ATH Vodafone
Foundation has continued another year of social
engagement that we hope brings real, measureable
changes to peoples' lives. The Foundation's work
helps fulfil one of our core beliefs that mobile
communication technology is the key to address-
ing some of Fiji's pressing humanitarian challe-
nges. It allows us to use the people and technology
at our disposal to address the issues our staff are
passionate about or that needs addressing.

In the past financial year, the Foundation disbu-
rsed $943,776, with more than three-quarters

ATH is continuing its
expansionary vision
that aims to place

the company at the
forefront of the ICT
sector regionally. This

move comes at an important
juncture for the Group with the Asia-
Pacific region ranking as the most
dynamic and fast-moving regions
of the world in ICT development.
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going towards disaster rehabilitation, with the
rest disbursed on its World of Difference program-
me, sustainable funding for community groups
and the Duke of Edinburgh Awards scheme in
schools, among other things. Since its establish-
ment, the Foundation has disbursed around
$10million to philanthropic projects and causes.

Group Results

Consolidated sales revenues for the ATH Group
grew by 8% taking the full year revenue to $270.4
million. This increase is attributed to increases
in revenues for all ATH subsidiaries except FIN-
TEL which experienced a decline in revenues.
This decline in revenue was predominantly brou-
ght about by increasing competition for internat-
ional gateway capacity.

The Group recorded a consolidated net loss after
tax and minority interest of $15.9 million, comp-
ared to a profit of $18.3 million for the corresp-
onding period last year. The loss is largely due to
the disposal of equipment recorded by Vodafone
Fiji Limited of $69 million and impairment of
assets of $7 million in FINTEL. In Vodafone's
case, the loss on disposal was effected earlier than
expected due to the completion ahead of schedule
of Vodafone's nationwide 3G network.

ATH Group's consolidated profits declined by
176% resulting in a net loss before taxes of $34.65
million.

While there was an increase of almost 50% or
$6.33 million in dividends to shareholders, the
retained earnings at the end of the financial year
suffered a decline of 35%. This again is attributed
to the impairment of assets.

The holding company continued to maintain a
healthy cash flow with $25.06m cash assets at
the end of the financial year.

Looking to the Future

We are dedicated to connecting every home in
the country and bringing people online and conn-
ecting consumers across all continents enabling
societies to "meet" and transact in a seemingly
"borderless" world. Fiji is ready to join the fast

In the year ahead,
we aim to capitalise
on the general trend
of data use in our

markets. The road ahead is
by no means smooth with

competition and price deregulation
affecting legacy business.

digitising world! The future is upon us and ATH
Group of companies is equipped to support the
growth.

In the year ahead, we aim to capitalise on the gen-
eral trend of data use in our markets. The road
ahead is by no means smooth with competition
and price deregulation affecting legacy business.
On the flip side, however, the Group is well placed
to take advantage of opportunities that explosive
data use and internet access is providing.

Over the coming year, the Group will continue
the rationalisation of its assets and consolidation
of business while looking for opportunities to
invest in the best technology it can acquire so that
we are able to maintain a robust company that is
both home-grown and international in outlook.

Appreciation

I thank my fellow Directors for their contribution
on all matters including matters connected with
the board's governance. Their expertise and profe-
ssionalism were of immense benefit in discharg-
ing the responsibilities of the board.

Together with the Chief Executive / General Man-
ager of ATH and CEOs of each of the subsidiaries
and the respective senior management teams and
all the staff we set foot on a journey of transform-
ation four years ago and together we are well in
to our journey to meet the future now.

My sincere appreciation to the CEOs and the res-
pective senior management teams and all the sta-
ff for their dedication and hard work in implem-
enting the strategic objectives through the Group
and supporting me and the respective boards wi-
th their advice and guidance. To our valued stake-
holders, thank you for your confidence, support
and loyalty. The Future is Now. Our promise is
to deliver faster and better services to you.

Ajith Kodagoda
Chairman



The ATH Group of companies had yet another taxing year with operational changes
in many of the subsidiary companies and mixed results across the board.

growth in revenue, close to $10 million  impro-
vement in cash flow and improvement in
NPAT.

This has been underpinned by TFL's launch
and revamp of new and exciting products in
the broadband internet space which has not
only brought about an order of magnitude
improvement in sustained broadband speeds,
but has been a major contributor in putting
Fiji at the top of Pacific Island broadband rank-
ings. Indeed, both TFL and VFL received excel-
lent reports from the ITU Pacific Broadband
Forum that was held in Nadi in July 2012 and
was a significant component of the official
broadband statistics reported by Fiji to the
ITU. The country was globally recognised as
the most improved country in world broad-
band rankings. ATH  is extremely proud to be
part of the Fiji's achievement in this respect.

The company also improved overall sales perf-
ormance generally with standouts in data com-
munications growth and international busi-
ness opportunities while core revenues
stabilised.

Strong measures were taken to bring the com-
pany back towards an even keel, including the
merger of subsidiary Transtel Limited with
the sales unit within TFL. The ATH call centre
operations were also acquired by TFL and mer-
ged with TFL's customer services functions.

ATH General Manager Mr Ivan Fong was
seconded to TFL to oversee operations after
the departure of Chief Executive Officer Mr
Rohan Mail towards the end of the previous
financial year while the TFL Board looks to
the appointment of a CEO.

The restructure of TFL saw the departure of
several key personnel, Mr Richard Barghout
(GM Retail), Mrs Sala Nadakuitavuki (GM
Human Resources), Mr Marika Vada (GM
Engineering) and Mr Radrodro Tabualevu
(CEO Transtel). New appointments were

common theme across the Group has
been the rise to prominence of broadband
Internet which has significant impli-

cations on the business. Broadband internet
presents opportunities to grown, innovate and
build new business opportunities and this has
been reflected in the common growth in this
area across the ATH portfolio. At the same
time, however, it also represents a shift away
from core business revenues and a key risk to
legacy revenues.

Vodafone Fiji Limited

Vodafone showed an impressive 11% growth
over the year with an increase in subscriber
numbers driven largely through data connec-
tions. This was an even more impressive result
when you consider Fiji is a mature mobile
market with penetration rate of around 110%.

While Vodafone reports a net operating loss
after minority interests and taxes of $10.08
million for the year ended 31 March 2013,
however, as the Chairman has reported, this
has arisen out of the loss on disposal of assets
due to VFL's network upgrade.

The upgrade extends 3G wireless broadband
coverage to more than 95% of Fiji's population,
and increases call handling capacity by more
than 150%. This investment means the com-
pany is better positioned to bring the benefits
of the internet and broadband to consumers
in Fiji.

During the year, VFL also restructured its bor-
rowings on a $20 million loan. This debt, whi-
ch was previously organised by ATH, has now
been taken over directly by VFL and the FNPF.

Telecom Fiji Limited

After a tough five years of decreasing revenues,
Telecom Fiji Limited showed some positive
improvements through the year with a 9%

A

The 3G wireless
broadband upgrade,
extends coverage to
more than 95% of
Fiji's population, and
increases call handling capacity

by more than 150%.
Vodafone Fiji Limited
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made in Mr Autiko Loulou as GM IT, Mr Vinit
Chand as GM Finance and Mr Charles
Goundar as GM Sales during the year.

Telecom Fiji Limited (TFL) restructured debt
of $25,782,198 from ANZ to FNPF to com-
bine with existing debt of $53,230,583 at the
FNPF to take advantage of improved comm-
ercial terms and conditions available.

On 31 March 2013, TFL acquired Transtel
Limited's business assets and business operat-
ions of marketing and selling of prepaid tran-
sactions cards. On the same day, TFL also acq-
uired ATH Call Centre Limited's business
assets and business operations of operating a
call centre. Plant, equipment and intangible
assets were transferred to TFL at an agreed
price. TFL sold its property located at Walu
Bay for a consideration of $3.75 million (VEP).
The objectives of these operational changes
essentially are to bring about operational cost
savings and service delivery improvements
going forward.

In December 2012, severe tropical cyclone
Evan partially damaged the communication
infrastructure and affected some operations
of TFL. As a result, TFL incurred losses of
approximately $800,000 in respect of repairs
and maintenance, loss of stock and business
interruption. TFL also suffered close to $2
million in losses due to theft of copper cable
infrastructure, however, close cooperation
with authorities and other critical infrastru-
cture organisations resulted in a ban on the
export of non-ferrous metals, alleviating this
long standing challenge.

FINTEL

As noted by the Chairman, ATH's acquisition
of 49% shareholding in FINTEL has resulted
in the commencement of restructuring at the
company.

 Effective from 1 April 2013, FINTEL
acquired the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary com-pany, FINTEL Internet
Services Limited (trad-ing as Kidanet). The
assets and liabilities were transferred at their
carrying values in the books account as at 31
March 2013.

Subsequent to the transfer, the subsidiary com-
pany became dormant. FINTEL is in the proc-
ess of completing the formalities in relation to
the restructure of operations of the subsidiary
company.

However, the KIDANET brand and services
will continue to be maintained and managed
by the company as the objective of the restruc-
ture, in line with the restructuring in other
ATH subsidiaries, is focused on operational
improvements and most importantly on the
improvement in end-to-end service delivery
as a critical aspect of the overall customer qual-
ity of experience.

During the year, FINTEL commenced upgrad-
ing of facilities at its cable station at the Vatu-
waqa Communications Centre to prepare for
the landing of other subsea fibre optic cables
to Fiji. These cables would use FINTEL's access
to the Southern Cross Cable to connect to
Australia, New Zealand and the USA.

On the international front, FINTEL’s core
business revenues continues to be challenged,
however, with the landing of the subsea fibre
optic cable from Tonga this year, and the proj-
ected landing of another cable from Vanuatu
in early 2014, business opportunities in inter-
national connectivity should improve.

Fiji Directories Limited

Fiji's directory publisher Fiji Directories Lim-
ited performed reasonably well over the year
considering the hurdles it faced, posting a 32%
increase in net profit after tax. The $1.4 mil-

Telecom Fiji Limited showed some
positive improvements through the

year with a 9% growth in
revenue, close to

$10 million
improvement in cash flow

and improvement in NPAT.
Telecom Fiji Limited

FINTEL commenced upgrading of
facilities at its cable station at the
Vatuwaqa Communications Centre
to prepare for the landing of other

subsea fibre optic
cables to Fiji. These cables

would use FINTEL's access to the
Southern Cross Cable to connect to
Australia, New Zealand and the

USA.
FINTEL

General Manager's Report



ATH | Annual Report 2013

07General Manager's Report

for people who require our helping hand.
Our Mobile for Good programme was establi-
shed to help NGOs and charities reach comm-
unities at a minimal cost, efficiently, effect-
ively, regularly and on a large scale.

Business and professional organisations have
also been engaged in activities that comple-
ment our Vodafone 'Mobile for Good'
programmes.

Our network empowers people with the nec-
essary tools to bring about positive social
change.

To conclude, I would like to reiterate that the
challenges posed during the business year for
our subsidiaries have been handled in the most
prudent manner possible, even if it seemed
tough. It has been pleasing to note that the
developments across most of the companies
in the ATH group have been positive and have
been undertaken to bring about continued
improvement that will benefit shareholders
and consumers.

Despite this, the future for the ATH Group
and its subsidiaries continues to be at the
forefront  of new developments in the market
and remain well prepared to endure and to
succeed in the rapidly changing future
environment.

On behalf of the ATH management team, I
would like to thank all the management and
staff of the Group's subsidiaries for their
commitment, loyalty and passion.

lion NPAT was made during a period when
the company was without a Chief Executive
Officer following the sudden death of Mrs
Margaret Peters Whippy in February 2012. In
December 2012 Mr Mohammed Mukhtar
Khan was appointed new CEO.

Three members of the management team resi-
gned during the year and the positions were
filled with Ms Sitla Chandra as Finance Mana-
ger, Mr Puneet Satyawan as Systems Manager
and Ms Tipo Varea as Acting Sales Manager.

FDL's improved performance has largely been
due to operating cost efficiencies, however,
the team is well aware that with the trend of
internet prevalence, listings and search will
migrate away from the higher margin print
media to electronic media. Despite this trend,
it is still critical that FDL be the leader in Fiji
listings and search on the internet.

FDL's focus on increasing and revamping its
web presence is well underway and it is expec-
ted to make head way in the online search mar-
ket, capitalising on the growth in use of
internet-connected mobile devices.

ATH Vodafone Foundation

The ATH Vodafone Foundation, the flagship
of the company's philanthropic efforts, contin-
ued its focus on mobilising social change in
communities, with the majority of the
$943,776.00 disbursed over the year going to
disaster relief through the Vodafone Red Alert
appeal, and to schools to support the Duke of
Edinburgh scheme for young people.

A core belief we subscribe to is that mobile
communication technology can mitigate or
solve some of Fiji's most serious humanitarian
challenges. As such it is our responsibility as
a telecommunications entity with the means
to improve communities, to use our resources,
technology and people to multiply the benefits

Ivan Fong
General Manager &
Company Secretary

FDL's improved performance has

largely been due to
operating cost

efficiencies, however, the
team is well aware that with the

trend of internet prevalence, listings
and search will migrate away from
the higher margin print media to

electronic media
Fiji Directories Limited

The ATH Vodafone Foundation, the
flagship of the company's

philanthropic efforts, continued its
focus on mobilising social change

in communities, with the
majority of the
$943,776.00

disbursed over the
year going to disaster relief
through the Vodafone Red Alert

appeal, and to schools to support
the Duke of

Edinburgh scheme for young
people.

ATH Vodafone Foundation
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n accordance with the Reserve Bank of
Fiji's Corporate Governance Code, ATH
provides the following corporate govern-

ance statement for the year ending 31 March
2013.

Role of the Board

The role of the Board is to assume account-
ability for the success of the company by taking
responsibility for its direction and manage-
ment in order to meet its objective of enhan-
cing corporate profit and shareholder value.

The regular business of the Board, during its
meetings, covers business investments and
strategic matters, governance and compliance,
the General Manager's report, and the perfo-
rmance of subsidiary companies.

Composition of Board

The Board comprises of seven Non-Executive
Directors of which four are Strategic Investor
Directors and three are Independent Directors.

The Directors in office on 31 March 2013 are:

As at 31 March 2013 there is a vacant position
on the board of directors.

The directors are appointed in line with the
company's Memorandum of Association and
are elected at the company's Annual General
Meeting.  One third retires by rotation each
year and is eligible for re-election.  The FNPF
is excluded from participating in this election
process.

A total fee of $62,500 was paid to Directors
for their service during the year in accordance
with the shareholders resolution at the 14th

Annual General Meeting.  The company also
met other expenses mainly for travel and acco-
mmodation which were incurred during the
course of their duties for ATH.  Directors were
also covered under a Directors' and Officers'
Insurance Policy and a Personal Accident Insu-
rance Policy.

The Board met seven times during the finan-
cial year ended 31 March 2013.  Attendance
was as follows:

Board Sub-Committees

The Board has formally constituted three com-
mittees: the Corporate Governance Comm-
ittee, the Audit and Finance Committee and
the Human Resources Committee.  The Corp-
orate Governance Committee comprises of all
the Directors, and is also chaired by the Board
Chairman.  The Corporate Governance Com-
mittee is responsible for ensuring that the Boa-
rd operates effectively and efficiently and that
the company has appropriate employment
practices.

The Human Resources Committee is respon-
sible for advising the Board on human resou-
rces issues which includes the remuneration
and conditions of employment of the General
Manager and senior management and succ-
ession planning.

General Manager  and Company Secretary

Mr Ivan Fong is the General Manager for ATH.
The GM is responsible for developing and
implementing business strategies and policy
guidelines; managing budgets, financial report
and key performance indicators; providing

I

 Name Date of Appointment

Ajith Kodagoda Independent Director 16 July 2009

David Kolitagane Independent Director 20 August 2009

Umarji Musa Independent Director 23 August 2010

Taito Waqa Strategic Investor Director 21 August 2008

Arun Narsey Strategic Investor Director 01 September 2010

Tom Ricketts Strategic Investor Director 06 August 2009

Number of Number of Apologies
Director Meetings Meetings Received

Entitled to Attended
Attended 

Ajith Kodagoda 7 6 1

David Kolitagane 7 5 2

Taito  Waqa 7 4 3

Arun Narsey 7 7 0

Tom Ricketts 7 5 2

Umarji Musa 7 7 0

Ajith Kodagoda
Chairman

Taito Roba Waqa
Director

Arun Narsey
Director

David Kolitagane
Director

Tom Ricketts
Director

Umarji Musa
Director

Ivan Fong
Company Secretary &
General Manager
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Rights of Shareholders

In line with South Pacific Stock Exchange's
requirements, the company issues market
announcements of material information, six
monthly unaudited financials, audited finan-
cials and annual report.  The same information
is posted on SPSE and ATH websites. All share-
holders are invited to the AGM and are given
an opportunity to communicate directly with
the Board of Directors.

Accountability and Audit

ATH is audited annually by an independent
external auditor.  The company also has an
Audit and Finance Committee which provides
oversight of the company's internal controls
and operations, verifying and safeguarding the
integrity of the company's financial reporting.

Risk Management

The Directors of the company are always mind-
ful of potential risks that may arise in the cou-
rse of its business.  While the company does
not have a separate Risk Management Comm-
ittee it has contingencies to address this as the
need arises.

company secretarial duties and functions; ens-
uring compliance with regulatory and statut-
ory requirements; managing effective relatio-
nships with internal and external parties; and
leading and developing a team of staff.

Timely and Balanced Disclosure

As a listed company, ATH is subject to the
rules and regulations for listed companies as
set out by the South Pacific Stock Exchange
and Reserve Bank of Fiji.  This includes market
announcements of material information, six
monthly unaudited financials, audited finan-
cials and annual report.

Ethical and Responsible Decision Making

The Company has a code of conduct which is
relayed to the Directors upon appointment to
the Board.  ATH believes that all Directors
and executives uphold the code of conduct
and ethical standards of the company.

Register of Interests

A register of interests is maintained by the
company in line with the code of conduct.
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Establishment and Ownership

malgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
(“ATH”) was incorporated as a public
company on 10 March 1998, as a vehicle

through which the Fiji Government's invest-
ments in the telecommunications sector were
consolidated for the purpose of privatisation
under its public sector reform programme.

ATH commenced operations on 16 December
1998 following the sale of a 49% strategic stake
in the company to the Fiji National Provident
Fund (“FNPF”) as part of a tender in which a
number of international parties participated.
The FNPF subsequently consolidated its cont-
rol of ATH in September 1999 after it acqu-
ired a further 2% of the issued shares in accord-
ance with contractual obligations. Govern-
ment's shareholding as a result, was reduced to 49%.

In February 2002, Government sold a further
9.7% of its shares through a Private Placement
with institutional investors, including the
FNPF, which acquired further shares.  An add-
itional 4.7% of Government's shares were sold
in a Public Offer a month later.  Government
is currently ATH's second largest shareholder
with 34.6% interest, while the FNPF is the
largest shareholder with 58.2%.

The Company

ATH is Fiji's principal telecommunications
holding company, through its investments and
provision of direct services in a broad range of
telecommunications and related services.  The
principal activities of the ATH Group include:

• Provision of voice, internet and data related
services;

• Provision of business communications so-
lutions;

• Provision of ICT and surveillance products;
• Provision of Transaction management and

prepaid services;
• Provision of directory information services;
• Provision of Business Processing Outsour-

cing (BPO), including call centre services;
• Provision of international telecommunic-

ations facilities.

In addition, ATH has rights to manage Govern-
ment's 51% shareholding in Fiji International
Telecommunications Limited (“FINTEL”),
Fiji's current sole provider of international tele-
communication services.  On 15 March 2012,
ATH acquired 49% of FINTEL from Cable
and Wireless Communications Limited for a
sum of $18.6 million.
.
Group Structure

Telecom Fiji Limited is a 100% owned subsid-
iary of ATH and is the incumbent telecommu-
nications services provider in Fiji. Telecom Fiji
Limited currently provides fixed telephony
services, broadband internet, international
voice and data connectivity, sale of telephone
equipment and sale of office and computer
equipment.

Fiji's telephone directory is published by Fiji
Directories Limited, a joint venture between
ATH (90%), and Edward H O Brien (Fiji) Lim-
ited (10%). Fiji Directories Limited's principal
business activities are compiling and publish-
ing the Fiji telephone directory and providing
access to the same online.

Vodafone Fiji Limited is the country's leading
provider of mobile telecommunications serv-
ice and mobile phone money transfer service.
 It is a joint venture between ATH (51%) and
Vodafone International Holdings BV (49%).

ATH Technology Park Limited is a 100% subs-
idiary of ATH, and was established as the veh-
icle through which the proposed ATH Techn-
ology Park at Vatuwaqa could be developed,
owned and operated.

Pacific Emerging Technologies Limited is a
joint venture between ATH (51%) and Pacific
Electronic Commerce Pty Limited (49%), and
provides electronic payments service through
its Payecomm system.

Fiji International Telecommunications Limited
is a joint venture between the Fiji Government
(51%) and ATH (49%).  It provides and oper-
ates international telecommunication facilities
into and out of Fiji.

A
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Revenue 83,342 91,063
Total Overhead -44,778 -41,903
EBITDA Margin 27% 31%
PBT -8,145 -5,684
NPAT -11,924 -4,138

2011-12 2012-13
($'000) ($'000)
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Overview

elecom Fiji Limited underwent some structural
changes and achieved significant improvements
in its overall business performance during this

financial year. These improvements were achieved
despite the ever increasing competition in the telecom-
munications and technology sectors, and regulatory
constraints.

In line with the overall ATH initiative to streamline
and consolidate operations, TFL merged its subsidiary
Transtel Limited’s operations with the sales business
unit within TFL. Transtel’s core business has been
marketing and selling cards for its prepaid transactions
platform called Yehdo! Additionally, TFL acquired
ATH’s call centre operations which have been merged
with TFL’s call centre and customer services functions.

These mergers and acquisitions were complemented
with the realignment of business units within TFL
resulting in consolidation of all revenue generating
functions within one business unit while the human
resources and corporate services functions were corres-
pondingly streamlined. These changes resulted in the
elimination of three senior management positions.

As part of the realignment of operations and rational-
isation of resources, TFL sold its Walu Bay property
and relocated some operations to the former ATH
call centre at Garden City in Raiwai. TFL is continuing
to assess its options for further cost savings and operat-
ional efficiencies.

It was not all smooth sailing as the company suffered
operational disruptions and losses due to the cyclone
in December 2012 and subsequent flooding in the
Western Division in January 2013. The damage cau-
sed to TFL infrastructure required months of rehabil-
itation works resulting in losses of approximately
$800,000. Wilful damage to TFL’s infrastructure by
scrap metal thieves continued during the year despite
a ban by the government on the export of scrap metals.
An estimated $2 million was spent by TFL to replace
infrastructure and repair damage caused by metal
thieves.

Financial Performance

Sales and Marketing

Revenue

This was a watershed year for Telecom Fiji Limited as
it recorded a 9% increase in revenue after five consecu-
tive years of declining revenues. This improvement
in revenue underpinned the $7.78 million improve-
ment in Net profit in comparison to the previous year.
The increase was driven by improvements across most
areas with emphasis on data connections, corporate
and business communications solutions, new value-
added products in the ICT space and international
business growth.

Human Resources

The void left by the departure of then CEO of TFL,
Mr Rohan Mail, towards the end of the previous
financial year was filled by the secondment of ATH’s
General Manager, Mr Ivan Fong to oversee TFL’s oper-
ations. The TFL Board is currently working on
finalising the recruitment of TFL’s CEO.

The realignment of the organisational structure also
saw the departure of Mr Richard Barghout - General
Manager Retail, Mrs Sala Nadakuitavuki - General
Manager Human Resources, Mr Marika Vada -
General Manager Engineering and Mr Radrodro
Tabualevu - Chief Executive Officer Transtel. The
TFL Board and Management wish to thank these
senior managers for their contributions towards the
betterment of TFL. The company confirmed the
appointments of Mr Autiko Loulou as General
Manager IT, Mr Vinit Chand as Chief Financial
Officer and Mr Charles Goundar as General Manager
Sales during the year.

Business Highlights

TFL provided the communications network to under-
pin the new aircraft surveillance platform deployed
by Airports Fiji Limited (AFL) to cover Fiji and the
regional airspace. The successful design and delivery
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undertake, under supervision of designated staff from
Telecom.

Marketing

A new team was appointed to handle TFL’s marketing
area to reinvigorate the Telecom Fiji brand and increase
visibility in the market. The focus is around specific
initiatives with particular emphasis placed on the
development of youth with sponsorship of the Tadra
Kahani schools dance competition, swimming compe-
tition, and other youth-related sponsorships. TFL will
retain its corporate box at the newly-renovated natio-
nal stadium as a key venue for networking with corpo-
rate and government customers during sporting
events.

Major Network Projects and Upgrades

The network transmission capacity on the Bligh Route
between Viti Levu and Vanua Levu was further increa-
sed to cater for demand for services in the North. This
upgrade enabled TFL to extend high speed broadband
plans to customers in Labasa and Savusavu and also
enables extension of network coverage for other corp-
orate data services such as MPLS IP-VPNs in future.

TFL network infrastructure in some areas sustained
heavy damage during the cyclone. Major investment
was required for the rehabilitation of copper and fibre
cables and other cabling-related infrastructure after
severe flooding around the western parts of Viti Levu.

ATH In-Touch Call Centre

The ATH In-Touch Call Centre was fully acquired by
TFL at the end of the financial year. This will result
in overall savings for TFL and greater operational effi-
ciency. The call centre now serves all of TFL’s voice
and data customers and all segments.

Outlook

While the company has had to deal with many operati-
onal adjustments, the improvements have resulted in
a noteworthy conclusion to the financial year. With
these improvements continuing through the year
ahead and building on the momentum generated, the
company is confident of building on these results
further and looks forward to a positive year.

of this initiative is testament to TFL’s ability and com-
mitment to provide highly robust and resilient systems
where safety is paramount.

TFL continued to provide the voice communications
solutions and Private Automatic Branch Exchange
(PABX) systems for various other government depart-
ments including the ministries of Finance and Health,
Government Buildings and the Fiji Police Force.

In the corporate space, TFL successfully implemented
a new PABX system for Tanoa Group of hotels and
Courts Fiji-wide with multi-site networking and adva-
nced call accounting systems. TFL also deployed PABX
systems for other corporate customers such as Flour
Mills of Fiji, Holiday Inn, Nivis Motors, Hideaway
Resort, etc.

In the hospitality sector, TFL continued to expand its
Wi-Fi solutions at key hotels and resorts, as well as
signups from key restaurant chains and coffee shops.

On the international side, TFL launched international
Ethernet-based data products, geared for multinati-
onal corporate customers requiring high bandwidth
connections between Fiji and their offshore operat-
ions. The key benefit to customers of this technology
is high performance and scalability of service delivered
over a simple interface. Commercial banks, call centres
and airlines are now actively using this service. The
service is also used by Fiji TV to bring content to Fiji
from Australia.

Strategic Partnerships

Over the year, TFL forged strategic partnerships with
a number of companies as channel partners which
enhanced product distribution channels, enabled
joint product testing and shared research and
development-related work, such as around cloud
applications.

In order to foster innovation and development, Tele-
com Fiji Limited and the University of the South Pa-
cific established a Memorandum of Understanding
to encourage more development work geared towards
addressing the industry’s specific and practical require-
ments locally. As part of the terms of engagement,
TFL will identify certain potential projects, mainly
around application development, for the students to
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Telecom Fiji Limited recorded

a 9% increase in
revenue after five

consecutive years of declining
revenues. This improvement
in revenue underpinned the

$7.78 million
improvement in
Net profit in comparison

to the previous year



Vodafone Fiji recorded another year of
good growth and strong financial perfor-
mance across all key areas of the business.

Revenues continue to show an upward trend
with fourth consecutive year of growth after
a slight decline was recorded in 2010.

Whilst Voice and SMS provide the bulk of
revenues, data products and services are key
growth areas of the business.

During the year, Vodafone Fiji undertook a
major network programme which has taken
the 3G wireless broadband coverage to over
95% of Fiji’s population. The upgrade has also
increased call handling capacity by more than
150%.

As a result of the network transformation pro-
gramme, the replaced network infrastructure
was disposed during the financial year to make
way for the new infrastructure.

The continued investment in the network infr-
astructure is to ensure that Vodafone Fiji conti-
nues to provide good customer experience and
better services to its customers. This invest-
ment supports the Mobile internet and broad-
band internet market which has delivered sub-
stantial growth for the business as demonstr-
ated by the increase in the revenues.

Subscriber Base

Vodafone Fiji continues to register strong gro-
wth in subscriber base with total subscriber
base now around 700,000. This is an impres-
sive 11% growth over last year given that Fiji
is considered a mature mobile telecommunic-

ation market with mobile penetration rates of
around 110%.  The net positive growth in sub-
scriber numbers was driven largely through
data connections.

Vodafone Retail and Dealers

Vodafone retail outlets and the dealer channels
throughout the country was reorganized and
repositioned to serve the increasing demand
for data products and services. Smart phones
in the form of Blackberry’s, iPhones, Samsungs
and android phones improve the opportunity
of data mobility along with voice services. Ret-
ail shops have been resourced with appropriate
knowledge and capabilities to assist customers
with a wide range of voice, data and value add-
ed product and services.

Vodafone retail and dealer outlets continue to
be the main access point for the provision of
data enabled hardware such as smart phones,
flashnets, webbox and other data related acce-
ssories such as pockets wi-fis and wireless repe-
aters.

Consumer Market

Prepaid Data

Prepaid propositions still remain the preferred
option for majority of our customers. The suc-
cess of prepaid voice propositions have now
been replicated with various data products su-
ch as webbox, mobile internet, flashnets and
affordable tablets.

The various Prepaid data propositions such as
mobile internet day pass and regular data pro-
motions such as flashnet double ups are help-

V
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ing drive data growth. Further, smartphone
plans on a range of affordable mobile handsets
provide flexible plans for majority of prepaid
data users.

Value-Added Services

As the growth in voice segment start to slow
down, value added products by Vodafone incr-
easingly become important to drive growth.

Vodafone Fiji continues to offer to the market
the most innovative and rewarding value added
products and service. Its strong relationship
with all media partners continues with the
use of Vodafone SMS platform to offer ongoing
competition and promotions that offer instant
rewards to customers.

A number of content partners and aggregators
have also been engaged who provide latest
mobile content which include news, inform-
ation and entertainment. These offer our
customers a complete mobile communication
experience that brings out the individuality
and lifestyle of our users in their own unique
way. Vodafone had also engaged the services
of SMS gaming companies to offer interactive
SMS gaming products to our customers.

Vodafone Fiji in partnership with Foneology
was accredited by LTA to provide e-ticketing
on public buses in Fiji. The smart card solution
will enable passengers to pay for their bus fare
simply by tapping their e-card against a console
installed on the bus. E-Ticketing is an extension
of the  M-PAiSA mobile wallet service launc-
hed three years ago.

Corporate & Business Markets

Vodafone Fiji’s Corporate & Business Markets
division continue to grow. Innovative and sol-
ution based products; with “value-packed” pro-
positions were key to winning new business
and winning back business.

The corporate sector is increasingly seeking
combined fixed and mobile solutions for their

voice and data needs as well as integrated serv-
ices and productivity tools. Vodafone Fiji is
well placed to meet these customer needs. Vo-
dafone Fiji caters to all business segments rang-
ing from small-office-home-office and small-
medium enterprises to Corporate and multi-
national corporations.

Sponsorship and Community Events

Vodafone Fiji continues to actively engage with
the community through its sponsorship of
public events and projects

The sponsorship activities for the year included
the popular local music talent quest Vodafone
MiC show. The company also extended the
long running sponsorship of its municipal
festivals. These include:

Vodafone also threw its support as joint major
sponsors of the Prime Ministers Exporter of
the Year Awards. The 2012 year was brought
to a cheerful end with Vodafone’s sponsorship
of New Year’s Eve street parties for Suva, Nadi,
Ba and Seaqaqa.

Furthermore, our corporate support contin-
ued with the sponsorship of the Fiji Institute
of Accountants annual congress, CPA Cong-
ress, Head Teachers & Principals Conferences,
Local Government Meets, sponsorship of Fiji
Darts, AFL Volleyball Tournament, and the
Fiji Medical Association meeting.

Vodafone continues its sponsorship with the
Fiji FACT football tournament and the Fiji Bati
as they prepare for the World Cup in UK in
October this year.

Suva - Hibiscus Festival
Nadi - Bula Festival
Ba - Riverside Carnival
Tavua - Gold Town Carnival
Labasa - Friendly North Festival
Lami - Lami Festival
Lautoka - Farmers Carnival

Vodafone Fiji undertook a
major network programme

which has taken the

3G wireless
broadband coverage to

 over 95% of
Fiji's population.

The upgrade has also
increased call handling

capacity by more than 150%.



current financial year. FINTEL reviewed its
subsidiary operations with the Directors
resolving to fold-back the subsidiary operations
of KIDANET to capitalise on synergies
available with the parent company with the
objective of providing a positive return to the
Group.

The internal costs structures continue to be
reviewed and realigned to ensure the achieve-
ment and delivery of the key objectives. The
staff structure was re-organised with a total of
19 being made redundant. This impacted the
costs for the reported year with increases how-
ever significant savings is expected to be reali-
sed in the subsequent years. Other operational
structures were reviewed as well for improve-
ments in service and costs delivery and this is
an on-going activity.

Working Capital

Despite the adverse results, FINTEL’s liquidity
position remained robust for the year. Operat-
ing activities contributed a net inflow of $5.2
million with last year reporting a $9.2 million
inflow. Overall there was a net increase in cash
held during the year with an increase of $4.8
million to $9.8 million for the year.

The current ratio significantly improved with
current assets covering current liabilities 5.7
times against last years cover of 3.6 times. This
was attributed to an increase in current assets
level by 68.3% against a marginal increase in
current liabilities by 7.0%.

Technology

FINTEL continues to provide an efficient net-
work ensuring operations meet changing cus-
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Overview

INTEL provides and operates the internat-
ional telecommunication gateway facilities
for services into and out of Fiji.

The gateway located at FINTEL’s Vatuwaqa
Communications Centre provides interconn-
ection for voice, data, internet and other
services.

FINTEL ensures that service delivery to custo-
mers continues to be maintained at the usual
high standards of a secure and robust network
guaranteeing capability to meet the require-
ments for business continuity.

The network sitting on the back of the South-
ern Cross Cable Network provides dual homed
capability into the USA and Australia.

From October 2010, as part of the deregula-
tion of the Fiji telecommunications sector, the
gateway has interconnected domestic operators
enabling carriers to source services directly
from international suppliers.

In October, 2012, the operations of Kidanet,
its 100% owned subsidiary, was folded back
and now managed by FINTEL. Retail Internet
services are maintained over the Wimax Broad-
band Wireless Platform for services to private
individuals and the corporate market.

Financial Performance

FINTEL’s revenues declined by 36.9% for the
reported year largely due to the loss suffered
from its international voice services from un-
favourable regulatory conditions and the imp-
acts of competition. Although costs of sales
declined as well it was not enough to nullify
the impact of the declining revenues hence
the net earnings reported a reduction by
23.2%. The unfavourable market conditions
have prompted FINTEL to take a conservative
position and impair its assets this year by a
total of $7.9 million. This impairment contrib-
uted to a significant decline in profit after tax
resulting in a net loss of $5.45 million for the

F
Net Profit After Tax

12,000
10,000
8,000
6,000
4,000
2,000

0
-2,000
-4,000
-6,000
-8,000

$000

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Ajith Kodagoda
Chairman

Sashi Singh
Director

David Kolitagane
Director

Vilash Chand
Director

Aisake Taito
Director

Ioane Koroivuki
Company Secretary &

Chief Executive Officer

16 Fiji International Telcommunication Limited (FINTEL)



ATH | Annual Report 2013

17FINTEL

supply to its current interconnect partners
over radio and other technologies as well.

International Private Leased Line Circuits
(IPLC) for service delivery to international
corporate organisations for privacy, security
and ease of bandwidth expansion. Frame Relay
service is initially still preferred by the small-
to-medium enterprise market, before they
transition to the broadband leased line service,
as their business demands dictate.

Other ancillary services such as video confere-
ncing and streaming continue to provide a cost
effective service to corporate organisations,
NGOs, educational institutions, religious orga-
nisations and individuals.

Telehousing and co-location services at FIN-
TEL’s Vatuwaqa Communications Centre
provides efficient and effective services to both
the domestic and international corporate cust-
omers. Organisations are now opting for secu-
rity and redundancy, both of which FINTEL
provides, apart from the direct connectivity
to the international gateway.

Bilateral Relations

FINTEL continued its bilateral relations with
its major trading partners for direct connect-
ivity as well as transit facility centres for global
reach.

FINTEL continues to value channel partners
both in the domestic and international sectors
given the new market order and its positioning
on the international gateway and endeavours
to work with these partners to provide the
retail end the best of gateway services.

tomer and market needs and provide efficient
and effective network availability and quality.

The Southern Cross Cable System continues
to provide the core backbone infrastructure
for the efficient delivery of services to meet
global demands of users.  The network now is
able to deliver quadruple the available capacity
with recent network-wide upgrades

Network Development Activities continue to
focus on the enhancement of its core, Internet
and data infrastructures and service delivery
over radio-based networks as key to the growth
of incremental business to customers.

The commitment to sustain and enhance the
present submarine cable networks was again
reflected in the sustenance of services via these
main mediums.

Major projects currently being undertaken are
the submarine cable connectivity to Pacific
Island neighbours Tonga and Vanuatu. The
Tonga Cable system is targeting an August
2013 ready-for-service date, with the Vanuatu
Cable System to follow in February 2014.

Operational Performance

The traditional voice business continues to
undergo innovative changes with network dev-
elopment implementing evolving technologies
enabling the convergence of innovative voice
and data services. Network development cont-
inued to embark on and engage in new busin-
ess strategies to position future businesses in
line with market demands.

Traditional voice revenue performance contin-
ues to be challenging after the opening of the
gateway to domestic operators with the choice
to access international bilateral partners directly.

Internet supply within the group remains str-
ong with the penetration of mobile broadband
service increasing significantly.  This is further
enhanced with the opportunity to increase

Consolidated Sales Revenue
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Overview

t was a very challenging year for Fiji Direct-
ories having to continue operations without
a Chief Exective Officer. During the finan-

cial year the team had to function without a
CEO for eight months, until in December
2012 Mr Mohammed Mukhtar Khan was
appointed as the new Chief Exective Officer.
Mr Khan has over 14 years’ experience intern-
ationally and locally in sales and marketing
working for IT, mobile, telecommunication
and advertising industries including Telecom
Fiji Limited and Vodafone Fiji Limited.

Financials

Fiji Directories Limited recorded a net profit
after tax of $1.4 million, an increase of 32.14%
when compared to last year.  There was also
an increase of 0.84% in total sales revenue over
last year.  A major contribution to this increase
was revenue generated from the Yellow Pages
print. We expect a higher growth in online
r e ve n u e  a f t e r  the revamp of the
http://www.yellowpages.com.fj website. There are
new plans in place for developing and growing
new revenue streams.

Overall there was 6.84 % savings in total
expenses in comparison to last year

Fiji Directories also declared an increase of 8%
in dividend payment to shareholders as compa-
red to the last financial year.

Yellow Pages Website Revamp

Fiji Directories  has revamped its Yellow
Pages  website  and i ts  now onl ine
http://www.yellowpages.com.fj. Other projects
in the pipeline include the revamp of the White
Pages website, improving the directory publis-
hing system, integration of all IT systems used
at Fiji Directories, design and development of
the company website, re-engineering the Direc-
tory Mobile Search (DMS) to facilitate better
search functionality for users while on the
move, and upgrade of the IT infrastructure.

The new and improved site was re-designed
with the goal to:
• enhanced user experience through easier

navigation
• a cleaner interface
• better content
• more product documentation
• enhanced search engine optimization; and
• a stronger focus on expanding the reach of

the businesses and individuals who adver-
tise with us online.

The aim of the revamped website is to increase
the profile and success of our customers online.
 Success of our individual customers means
success for FDL. The performance of Fiji Dire-
ctories in terms of increasing sales has surpas-
sed all the performance of past years combined
and with the launch of this new website, we
are bracing for the online sales to “shoot thro-
ugh the roof”

I
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Human Resources

Three of our management team members resi-
gned during the year to join other organisations
and these positions have all been filled with
Ms Sitla Chandra as Finance Manager, Mr Pun-
eet Satyawan as Systems Manager and Ms Tipo
Varea as Acting Sales Manager.

Apart from the management team, we have
also had a new member, Mr Ronald Prakash
who joined our IT Team as Systems Admi-
nistrator.
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Fiji Directories Limited

recorded a net profit
after tax of $1.4
million, an increase of
32.14% when compared to

last year.  There was also an
increase of 0.84% in total

sales revenue over last year.

Overall there was 6.84%
savings in total

expenses in comparison
to last year.

The Year Ahead

Looking into 2013, Fiji Directories will be inn-
ovative in its approach to continue to improve
and add value to the design, layout and listing
content of the Fiji Telephone Directory for the
benefit of its customers and users thus prov-
iding the nation with the reliable and compre-
hensive source of information at the highest
standard possible. The other focus would be
to develop applications for Yellow Pages to
facilitate users searching for businesses, prod-
uct and services in Fiji using their smart devices.



Executive Summary

his financial year, the Foundation focused
on catalytic philanthropy, engaging with
society and participating in advocacy and

policy development which greatly enhanced
the impact of what the Foundation is trying
to achieve. The emphasis was on understan-
ding that projects were only the beginning of
social impact. What is needed is meaningful
and sustainable support for the project beyond
initial funding. Progress in social changes thro-
ugh projects was being continuously evaluated
with multi-sectoral parties.

At the heart of our Foundation is the belief
that mobile communication technology can
address some of Fiji’s most pressing humani-
tarian challenges and our responsibility is to
utilise our people and technology to multiply
impacts that improves people’s lives. This year
the Foundation’s focus areas included: Voda-
fone Red Alert, mEducation, mWomen, SMS
Counsellor, mHealth, Dr SMS, mCancer, mD-
isability, mKidney, mCorp, World of Differ-
ence, Sustainable Funding, Employee Engage-
ment, and Beyond Funder.

The model employed this year gave us oppo-
rtunities to support key communities that we
work with. The level and breadth of our contr-
ibutions aspired to benefit a large network of
key stakeholders. We continued to work aro-
und a notion of shared implementation and
measurement. Our societal involvement inclu-
ded contributions from our staff donating
their skills and raising funds for causes they
are passionate about. This has seen partnering
and complementing charities, improving edu-
cation at various levels, partnering with health
care providers and World of Difference volu-
nteer services to address public health issues
such as addressing the state of humanitarian
crisis declared by Pacific Leaders in Septem-
ber2011, and Disability Issues.

We also forged relationships with the business
community and professional bodies like
Principals and Head Teacher Associations, Fiji
College of General Practitioners, Fiji Legal Aid
Commission and Empower Pacific to engage

in beneficial, supportive activities that comp-
lement Vodafone Mobile for Good Program-
mes. This year also saw engagement at state
level with Ministry of Education, Ministry of
Health, Ministry of Social Welfare, Women
and Poverty, and Ministry of Labour.

Mobile for Good was established with an aim
to enable non-profit organisations reach the
wider community with minimal cost and
efficiency. Using our technology and network,
the Mobile For Good programme has empow-
ered people with necessary tools that brings
about positive social change.

mEducation empowers schools with advanced
technology and internet connectivity to imp-
rove teaching and learning capabilities bringing
a new dimension to classroom teaching in Fiji.
Currently, 55 schools have benefited from the
programme.

mHealth is working towards addressing the
issue of ‘humanitarian crisis’ of non-communi-
cable diseases in Fiji. mHealth channel provides
SMS tips on NCDs and is reaching over 47,000
customers on daily basis.

The Foundation also launched mCancer, mKi-
dney, mDisability and mCorp in partnership
with Fiji Cancer Society, Kidney Foundation,
Spinal Injury Association, Northern Charity
Alliance and Western Charity Alliance respe-
ctively. Currently over 10,000 subscribers
receive information through these channels
daily. With the notion that “Business cannot
be successful in failed communities”, mCorp
shares best practices and raises awareness with
Fiji’s corporate community on ways to susta-
inably engage in philanthropic activities.

mWomen was also launched this year to emp-
ower women through the use of technology.
Around 13,500 customers now receive
information on sexual assault, child abuse,
and domestic violence. mWomen is being exe-
cuted in partnership with Ministry of Social
Welfare, Women and Poverty, Women’s Empo-
werment Network, Legal Aid Commission,
and Empower Pacific. The SMS Counsellor

T
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difference at the grass roots level. A total of
nine passionate volunteers working for nine
charity organisations have provided well over
$6million worth of services to communities
since the launch of the World of Difference
Programme.

The Foundation is a catalyst for Social Change.
We invest in programmes which aspire to solve
some of Fiji’s most pressing social challenges.
By embracing innovative strategies and utilis-
ing Vodafone’s people, technology and net-
work we are able to create measurable social
impact, in turn, making the place that we do
business in better for all.

channel provides legal information and couns-
elling service to customers. Now our customers
can access Legal Aid and police directory on
this channel.

Vodafone Red Alert continues to help our cus-
tomers rebuild their lives devastated after nat-
ural disasters. This year we partnered with 11
charity organisations during two disasters and
disbursed in excess of $200,000 towards reh-
abilitation.

Vodafone World of Difference continues to
empower charity partners to take on innovative
sustainable social projects that can create real
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The Vodafone ATH Fiji
Foundation focused on
catalytic philanthropy,

engaging with society
and participating
in advocacy and

policy
development which
greatly enhanced the impact

of what the Foundation is
trying to achieve on

various projects
collectively to a
grand total of

$943,776.

Duke of Edinburgh Awards        $76,985
Adi Cakobau  School                   2,500

Baulevu High School                   2,500

Beqa Secondary School                   2,500

Bhawani Dayal Arya College                   2,500

Bua Central CollegAe                   2,500

Delana Methodist                    2,500

Kavanangasau Secondary                   2,500

Labasa Muslim College                   2,500

Lelean Memorial School                   2,500

Lami High                    2,500

Lekutu High School                   2,500

Levuka Public Secondary School                   2,500

Lomawai Secondary                   2,500

Muaniweni College                   2,500

Mulomulo Secondary                   1,985

Naikavaki Secondary                   2,500

Naitasiri Secondary                    2,500

Naiyala High School                   2,500

Nakasi High School                   2,500

Napuka Secondary                   2,500

Nausori High School                   2,500

Pt Shreedhar Maharaj College                   2,500

Pt Vishnu Deo Memorial                   2,500

Queen Victoria  School                   2,500

Rewa Secondary School 2,500

Saraswati College                    2,500

Sila Central                    2,500

Solevu Jnr Secondary School                   2,500

St John College                    2,500

Suva Sangam School                   2,500

Wainimakutu Secondary                   2,500

Employee Engagement $20,561

Ankit Prasad                    1,000

ANZ Social Club                    1,000

Batirilagi District                    1,000

Beryl Wilson                      600

Bram Deo                    1,000

Fiji Cancer Society                       846

Fiji Table Tennis Association                   1,000

Flight Discount Centre                   1,000

Hamidan Sharif                    1,000

Muaniweni College                   1,000

Naleba Primary                    1,000

Nilesh Umesh Kumar                   1,000

Sachindra Nand                    1,000

Sharon Mohammed                   1,000

Shynal Chandra                       340

St Augustine                    1,000

Susan                    1,000

Surya Bhang                      635

Uprising Beach Resort Club                   1,000

Vinod Patel                    1,000

Waibunabuna Primary                   1,000

Walk-On-Walk Strong                   1,000

Women's Correction Services                     140

mEducation                $50,000

Various schools throughout Fiji                 50,000

Mobile for Good                $65,023

Dr SMS Advisory                  34,383

Mobile for Good                  30,500

Sustainable funding             $73,188

Lions Club of Ba                  15,000

Lions Club of Labasa                 28,000

Northern Charity Alliance                  6,500

Rotary Club of Taveuni                 20,000

Vision Fiji                    3,688

Vodafone Red Alert         $364,699

Fiji Sevashram Sangha                 13,000

Flood Appeal               138,699

Friends Fiji                  30,000

Lions Club of Ba                  11,000

Lions Club of Labasa                 10,000

Rama Krishna Mission                 13,000

Rotary Club of Lautoka                 10,000

Rotary Club of Nadi                 13,000

Rotary Water Pacific for Life               100,000

Sai Veisesei Health Centre                 13,000

Sangam Fiji Foundation                 13,000

World of Difference         $288,320

Various Charity partners throughout Fiji 288,320

X Mas Donation                 $5,000

Labasa HART                    1,000

Loloma Home                    1,000

Psychiatric Survivors Association                    1,000

Senior Citizens Home                   1,000

Valelevu HART Home                   1,000

Grand Total             $943,776

Vodafone ATH Fiji Foundation Social Investments 2012/2013

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
and Subsidiary Companies
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Efficiently connecting
the digital world...Our
strategy for growth and
how we measure
progress.

ATH’s strategy is for our
technology to gain
share in long-term
structural growth
markets, such as mobile
phones, consumer
electronics and
embedded digital
devices.
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24 Directors' Report

In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors, the directors herewith submit the consolidated statement of
financial position of Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited (the company) and of the group as at 31 March 2013 and the
related consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and report as follows:

Directors

The names of directors in office at the date of this report are:

Mr Ajith Kodagoda - Chairman Mr Tom Ricketts
Mr David Kolitagane - Deputy Chairman     Mr Taito Waqa
Mr Arun Narsey                        Mr Umarji Musa 

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the company during the year were that of investments and provision of management services.

The principal activities of the subsidiary entities during the year were providing international and local telecommunication
services and telephone equipment, compilation and publishing of the Fiji telephone directory, provision of internet connection
and internet related services, operation of a mobile telecommunications network, provision of pre-paid telephony services,
provision of mobile phone money transfer service, managing PAYECOMM products, sale of ICT equipment and solutions
and development of a technology park including call centres, data warehouse and processing centres.

There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

Results

The net profit after income tax of the company for the year was $16,547,000 after providing for an income tax expense of
$527,000 (2012: $23,357,000 after providing for income tax expense of $1,571,000).

The consolidated net loss after income tax attributable to the members of the company for the financial year was $15,905,000
after providing for income tax benefit of $6,768,000 (2012: profit $18,362,000 after providing for income tax expense of
$12,683,000).

Dividends

Dividends of $18,995,000 were declared during the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: $12,665,000).

Reserves

It is proposed that no amounts be transferred to reserves within the meaning of the Seventh Schedule of the Fiji Companies
Act, 1983 (2012: Nil).

Bad and Doubtful Debts

Prior to the completion of the company’s and group’s consolidated financial statements, the directors and management took
reasonable steps to ascertain that action has been taken in relation to writing off bad debts and the provision for impairment.
In the opinion of the directors and management, adequate provision has been made for doubtful debts.

As at the date of this report, the directors and management are not aware of any circumstances, which would render the
amount written off for bad debts, or the provision for impairment in the company or the group, inadequate to any substantial
extent.

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
and Subsidiary Companies
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Non-Current Assets

Prior to the completion of the consolidated financial statements of the company and the group, the directors and management
took reasonable steps to ascertain whether any non-current assets were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of
business compared to their values as shown in the accounting records of the company and of the group. Where necessary,
these assets have been written down or adequate provision has been made to bring the values of such assets to an amount
that they might be expected to realise.

As at the date of this report, the directors and management are not aware of any circumstances, which would render the
values attributed to non-current assets in the company’s and the group’s consolidated financial statements misleading.

Unusual Transactions

In the opinion of the directors and management, the results of the operations of the group or any company in the group
during the financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature,
nor has there arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a
material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors and management, to affect substantially the results of the
operations of the group or any company in the group in the current financial year.

Significant Events during the Year

During the year:

(i) Telecom Fiji Limited (TFL) obtained a further loan of $25,782,198 from Fiji National Provident Fund (FNPF)
to settle its loan with Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ANZ) as part of restructuring of
borrowings. Accordingly, the prior year loan from FNPF of $53,230,583 was combined with the additional
loan with new terms and conditions;

(ii) On 31 March 2013, TFL acquired Transtel Limited’s business assets and business operations of marketing
and selling of prepaid transactions cards;

(iii) On 31 March 2013, TFL also acquired ATH Call Centre Limited’s business assets and business operations
of operating a call centre. Plant, equipment and intangible assets were transferred to TFL at an agreed price;

(iv) TFL sold its property located at Walu Bay for a consideration of $3.75 million (VEP);

(v) In December 2012, severe tropical cyclone partially damaged the communication infrastructure and affected
some operations of TFL. As a result, TFL incurred losses of approximately $800,000 in respect to repairs and
maintenance, loss of stock and business interruption. There was no insurance recovery as the losses were
under insured;

(vi) On 27 August 2012, the directors of Fiji International Telecommunication Limited (FINTEL) resolved to
fold back the operations of the subsidiary business of FINTEL Internet Services Limited trading as KIDANET
with the company. The fold back process was implemented from the second half of the financial year with
staff being made redundant in September to October. As a result, $359,500 was paid out as redundancy
payments. The remaining staff of the subsidiary company were re-employed by the company. The operations
were restructured and managed by the company;

(vii) During the year, Vodafone Fiji Limited (VFL) undertook a major network transformation program where it
replaced its entire mobile telecommunications network infrastructure. The old network assets were disposed
during the year; and

(viii) On 27 May 2009, the National High Court of Papua New Guinea issued an order of judgment in favour of
the associate entity, Amalgamated Telecom Holdings (PNG) Limited, Steamships Trading Limited and the
company. The judgment was against the Independent State of Papua New Guinea.

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
and Subsidiary Companies
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Significant Events during the Year continued

The litigation related to the share acquisition agreement entered between the Independent Public Business
Corporation of PNG and Amalgamated Telecom Holdings (PNG) Limited. Under the terms of the share
acquisition agreement, Amalgamated Telecom Holdings (PNG) Limited was to acquire 50.1% of the shares
in Telikom PNG Limited. However, due to the non performance of the contract by the Independent Public
Business Corporation of PNG, the sale of Telikom PNG Limited shares to Amalgamated Telecom Holdings
(PNG) Limited did not proceed.

At 31 March 2013, no settlement has been received by the company. However, the company received an offer
for an out of court settlement for consideration.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

Subsequent to balance date,

(i) Effective from 1 April 2013, FINTEL acquired the assets and liabilities of the subisidary company, FINTEL
Internet Services Limited. The assets and liabilities were transferred at their carrying values in the books
account as at 31 March 2013. The KIDANET brand and services will be maintained and managed by the
company. Subsequent to the transfer, the subsidiary company became dormant. FINTEL is in the process of
completing the formalities in relation to the restructure of operations of the subsidiary company; and

(ii) VFL has entered into a Management agreement to manage the business of Bemobile in Papua New Guinea
and Solomon Islands. Under the agreement, VFL will be paid management fees.

Apart from the matters noted above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the group or any company in the group, the results of those
operations, or the state of affairs of the group or any company in the group in future financial years.

Basis of Accounting

The directors and management believe that the basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements is appropriate
and that the company will be able to continue in operation for at least twelve months from the date of this report. Accordingly,
the directors and management believe that the classification and carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as stated in these
consolidated financial statements to be appropriate.

Directors’ Benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than those
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by directors shown in the consolidated
financial statements or received as the fixed salary of a full-time employee of any company in the group or of a related
corporation) by reason of a contract made by any company in the group or by a related corporation with the director or with
a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
and Subsidiary Companies
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Other Circumstances

As at the date of this report:

(i) no charge on the assets of any company in the group has been given since the end of the financial year to secure
the liabilities of any other person;

(ii) no contingent liabilities have arisen since the end of the financial year for which any company in the group
could become liable; and

(iii) no contingent liabilities or other liabilities of any company in the group has become or is likely to become
enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of
the directors and management, will or may substantially affect the ability of the company or the group to
meet its obligations as and when they fall due.

As at the date of this report, the directors and management are not aware of any circumstances that have arisen, not otherwise
dealt with in this report which would make adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the
company and the group misleading or inappropriate.

For and on behalf of the board and in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Dated this 27th day of June 2013.

------------------------------------ ------------------------------------
Director                                       Director

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
and Subsidiary Companies
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In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited, we state that in the
opinion of the directors:

(i) the accompanying consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the company and of the group is drawn up
so as to give a true and fair view of the results of the company and of the group for the year ended 31 March 2013;

(ii) the accompanying consolidated statement of changes in equity of the company and of the group is drawn up so as
to give a true and fair view of the changes in equity of the company and of the group for the year ended 31 March
2013;

(iii) the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of the company and of the group is drawn up so as
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group as at 31 March 2013;

(iv) the accompanying consolidated statement of cash flows of the company and of the group is drawn up so as to give a
true and fair view of the cash flows of the company and of the group for the year ended 31 March 2013;

(v) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company and the group will be able to
pay its debt as and when they fall due; and

(vi) all related party transactions have been adequately recorded in the books of the company and the group.

For and on behalf of the board and in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Dated this 27th day of June 2013.

------------------------------------ ------------------------------------
Director                                       Director

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
and Subsidiary Companies
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To the members of Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated Financial Statements of Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited (the company) and of the group,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2013, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ and Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors and management are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Fiji Companies Act, 1983. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making estimates that are reasonable in
the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the company’s preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the  purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion:

(a) proper books of account have been kept by the company and the group, so far as it appears from our examination of those books; and

(b) the accompanying consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards:

i) are in agreement with the books of account;

ii) to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:

(a) give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the group as at 31 March 2013 and of the results, cash flows 
and changes in equity of the company and of the group for the year ended on that date; and

(b) give the information required by the Fiji Companies Act, 1983 in the manner so required.

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

SUVA, FIJI                          ERNST & YOUNG  
27 June 2013               CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Pacific House
Level 7
1 Butt Street Suva Fiji
P O Box 1359 Suva Fiji
Tel: +679 331 4166
Fax: +679 330 0612
www.ey.com

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2013

Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue 5 270,469 249,411 16,653 25,853
Direct costs 6 (73,815) (66,766)                 -                 -

Gross profit 196,654 182,645 16,653 25,853

Other income 7 10,712 17,334   60 25
Amortisation and impairment of intangibles 14 (7,390) (6,084)                 - -
Depreciation 13 (49,821) (51,268) (6) (27)
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries - - (153) (1,150)
Marketing and promotion expenses (6,554) (8,275) (14) (55)
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment (69,316) - - -
(Impairment loss) on plant and equipment/reversal
of impairment loss (3,028) 7,603 - -
Impairment loss on intangible assets (4,922) - - -
Impairment of capital work in progress (325) - - -
Impairment loss on receivables written back 952 358 - -
Personnel costs 8 (40,938) (37,767) (266) (299)
Operating expenses 9 (57,064) (53,295) (1,328) (1,871)

Operating (loss)/profit (31,040) 51,251 14,946 22,476

Finance (cost)/income - net 10 (3,606) (5,403) 2,128 2,452

(Loss)/profit before income tax (34,646) 45,848 17,074 24,928

Income tax benefit/(expense) 11 6,768 (12,683) (527) (1,571)

(Loss)/profit after income tax (27,878) 33,165 16,547 23,357

Other comprehensive income 36 153 - - -

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year, net of tax (27,725) 33,165 16,547 23,357

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the company (15,905) 18,362 16,547 23,357
Non-controlling interests (11,820) 14,803 - -

(27,725) 33,165 16,547 23,357

Earnings per share for profit attributable to
the equity holders of the company during the year
(expressed in cents per share)
-  Basic and diluted 12 (4) 4

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
and Subsidiary Companies



ATH | Annual Report 2013

31Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
 For the year ended 31 March 2013

Consolidated

Balance as at 31 March 2011 105,526 2,074 93,215 200,815 39,962 240,777

Changes in equity for 2011 - 2012

Profit for the year ended 31 March 2012 - - 18,362 18,362 14,803 33,165

Dividends paid or provided (Note 26) - - (12,665) (12,665) 9,881 (2,784)

Balance as at 31 March 2012 105,526 2,074 98,912 206,512 64,646 271,158

Changes in equity for 2012 - 2013

Loss for the year ended 31 March 2013 - - (15,905) (15,905) (11,973) (27,878)

Restatement of non-controlling interest arising from
restatement of reserves in subsidiary acquired - FINTEL - - - - 153 153

Dividends paid or provided (Note 26) - - (18,995) (18,995) (14,820) (33,815)

Balance as at 31 March 2013 105,526 2,074 64,012 171,612 38,006 209,618

Company

Balance as at 31 March 2011 105,526 2,074 112,566 220,166

Changes in equity for 2011 - 2012

Profit for the year ended 31 March 2012 - - 23,357 23,357

Dividends paid or provided (Note 26) - - (12,665) (12,665)

Balance as at 31 March 2012 105,526 2,074 123,258 230,858

Changes in equity for 2012 - 2013

Profit for the year ended 31 March 2013 - - 16,547 16,547

Dividends paid or provided (Note 26) - - (18,995) (18,995)

Balance at 31 March 2013 105,526 2,074 120,810 228,410

Attributable to equity holders of the company
Share Share premium Retained Total Non- controlling Total
capital reserve earnings interests
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
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As at 31 March 2013

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
and Subsidiary Companies

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 263,864 354,829 7 11
Intangible assets 14 25,128 21,932 - -
Investment in subsidiaries 15 - - 175,710 175,863
Held-to-maturity investments 16 37,001 48,336 37,001 48,336
Deferred tax assets 17 (a) 8,895 6,757 6 7
Trade and other receivables 19 4,983 4,983 4,983 24,983

339,871 436,837 217,707 249,200
Current assets
Deferred expenses 80 80 - -
Held-to-maturity investments 16 12,331 1,420 11,331 320
Inventories 18 10,901 10,093 - -
Trade and other receivables 19 50,828 39,403 25,340 19,820
Cash on hand and at bank 25,058 31,006 899 8,231

99,198 82,002 37,570 28,371

Total assets 439,069 518,839 255,277 277,571

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities
Shareholders’ equity attributable to members of the company       
Issued capital 21 105,526 105,526 105,526 105,526
Share premium reserve 2,074 2,074 2,074 2,074
Retained earnings 64,012 98,912 120,810 123,258
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 171,612 206,512 228,410 230,858
Non-controlling interests 38,006 64,646 - -
Total shareholders’ equity 209,618 271,158 228,410 230,858

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 17 (b) 19,676 25,424 - -
Borrowings 22 80,071 100,803 12,566 33,818
Provisions 23 998 768 - -
Trade and other payables 24 9,142 13,171 - -
Deferred income 25 304 350 - -

110,191 140,516 12,566 33,818
Current liabilities
Borrowings 22 8,768 15,301 1,261 1,204
Provisions 23 31,549 33,669 12,606 9,848
Trade and other payables 24 78,943 58,195 434 1,843

119,260 107,165 14,301 12,895
Total liabilities 229,451 247,681 26,867 46,713

Total equity and liabilities 439,069 518,839 255,277 277,571

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

For and on behalf of the board and in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

------------------------------------                                                                                            ------------------------------------
Director                                                                                                                          Director

Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
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Operating activities
Receipts from customers 272,354 256,195 - -
Payments to suppliers and employees (163,525) (168,576) (1,826) (804)

Net cash inflows/(outflows) generated from operations 108,829 87,619 (1,826) (804)

Interest received 2,954 1,890 2,819 4,237
Interest paid (6,456) (8,325) (677) (2,058)
Dividends received - - 11,200 19,530
Management fees - 6,031 - 6,031
Income taxes paid (12,588) (8,266) (1,964) (502)

Net cash inflows from operating activities 92,739 78,949 9,552 26,434

Investment activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment (49,144) (38,500) (2) -
Payments for intangible assets (4,730) (5,713) - -
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 4,137 246 33 -
Redemption of held to maturity investments 320 4,000 320 3,000
Payment for held to maturity investments - (1,100) - -
Investment in FINTEL - - - (18,600)

Net cash outflows (used in) investing activities (49,417) (41,067) 351 (15,600)

Financing activities
Dividends paid to equity holders of the parent (14,774) (8,443) (14,774) (8,443)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (8,414)   (12,042) - -
Loans and advances to subsidiary entities - - (577) (1,139)
Loan repayments (51,928) (37,904) (1,884) (19,000)
Proceeds from borrowings 25,783 45,000 - 25,000

Net cash outflows (used in) financing activities (49,333) (13,389) (17,235) (3,582)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (6,011) 24,493 (7,332) 7,252

Effect of exchange rate movement on cash and cash equivalents 63 6 - -

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 31,006 6,507 8,231 979

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 25,058 31,006 899 8,231

Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
and Subsidiary Companies
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NOTE 1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited ("the company") and its
subsidiaries (together "the group") for the year ended 31 March 2013 were authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of directors on 27 June 2013.

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Fiji. The
address of its registered office and principal place of business is Harbour Front Building, Rodwell Road, Suva.
The company is listed on the South Pacific Stock Exchange, Suva.

The principal activities of the company and the group are described in Note 33.

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited and the group have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). These consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as adjusted by the revaluation
increments of land and buildings, available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss.

In the application of IFRS, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Judgments
made by management in the application of IFRS that have significant effects on the financial statements and
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the future periods are disclosed, where applicable,
in the relevant notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are critical to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying
transactions or other events is reported.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.1 Basis of Preparation continued

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards were published and are
mandatory for the accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012 or later periods. No significant
impact arose out of these standards, amendments and interpretations. The amendments to existing standards
were for the following:

• IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income - Amendments to IAS 1’ (effective from 1 July
2012);

• IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes (Amendment) - Deferred Taxes: Recovery of Underlying Assets’ (effective from
1 January 2012);

• IAS 19 (Revised), ‘Employee Benefits’ (effective 1 January 2013);

• IAS 28, ‘Investments Associates and Joint Ventures’ (effective 1 January 2013);

• IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments - Classification and Measurement’ (effective 1 January 2013)

• IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ (effective from 1 January 2013);

• IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’ (effective from 1 January 2013);

• IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities’ (effective from 1 January 2013); and

• IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’ (effective from 1 January 2013).

The company will review the impact of these standards on the group in the next financial year. Based on
preliminary analyses, there is no significant impact of these changes to the group.

2.2 Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the group. The
cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of the exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured

 initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest.
The excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the group's share of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income as fair
value gain on acquisition.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities
that comprises the group. A list of subsidiaries appears in Note 30 to the financial statements.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.2 Basis of Consolidation continued

Subsidiaries continued

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency

 with the policies adopted by the group.

The financial statements of Amalgamated Telecom Nominees Limited have not been incorporated in the
consolidated financial statements for the reasons stated in Note 30.

While the company owns 49% in FINTEL, the company also manages the 51% shareholding of the Government
of Fiji in FINTEL in accordance with a management agreement. As the company controls the affairs of
FINTEL, the results of FINTEL have been incorporated in the consolidated financial statements from the
date of acquisition.

Non-Controlling Interest

Non-controlling interest represents that part of the net results of operations and net assets of the subsidiaries,
which are not owned, directly or indirectly by the company.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The group’s investment in associates
includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss.

The group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.
When the group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.

2.3 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest rate method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance date.

2.4 Borrowing Costs

The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the capital assets are capitalised until
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the capital assets for its intended use are complete.  Other
borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.5 Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held
at call with banks, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
in the statement of financial position.

2.6 Comparatives

Where necessary, amounts relating to prior years have been reclassified to facilitate comparison and achieve
consistency in disclosure with current year amounts.

2.7 Dividend Distribution

Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the group’s and company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are proposed or declared by the company’s directors.

2.8 Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is determined by dividing net profit after income tax attributable to members
of the holding company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted EPS is the same as the basic EPS as there are no ordinary shares which are considered dilutive.

2.9 Employee Benefits

Wages, salaries and sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are accrued
up to the reporting date. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken
and measured at the rates prevailing at that time.

Annual leave

The liability for annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and is measured at the rates
prevailing at year end.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to
the reporting date.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the
reporting date on government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible,
the estimated future cash outflows.

Retirement benefits

The liability for retirement benefits is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as
the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up
to the reporting date.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.9 Employee Benefits continued

Bonus plans

The companies under the group pay bonuses to employees based on performance of the group and achievement
of individual objectives by the employees. The group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or
where there is a past practice, subject to performance evaluation.

Terminal benefits

The group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the
employment of current employees according to a formal plan without the possibility of withdrawal; or
providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made for redundancy.  Benefits falling due more than
12 months of the balance date are disclosed at the present value.

Defined contribution plans

Contributions to Fiji National Provident Fund are expensed when incurred.

2.10   Financial Assets

The group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
 investments and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the

financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition.

(a) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than
12 months after the balance date, which are classified as non-current assets. The group’s loans and
receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ disclosed in the statement of financial position (Note
19).

(b) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity.

Held-to-maturity investments are measured at subsequent reporting dates at amortised cost.

Held-to-maturity investments in Fiji Government Registered Stock by the group are recorded at their
amortised cost and not remeasured to market values as they are considered likely to be held to maturity
in line with investment objectives and fixed price nature of the investments.

(c) Investment in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less any accumulated impairment charges in the
financial statements of the company.

Dividends from subsidiaries are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part of
revenue when the company’s right to receive payments is established.

The company assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that an investment in
a subsidiary is impaired. Any impairment charge assessed is recognized in profit and loss.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.10 Financial Assets continued

(d) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance date.

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial
assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or
have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Changes in the fair value of the
available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in equity. When financial assets classified as available
for sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are included
in the statement of comprehensive income as ‘gains and losses’.

The company assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available for sale,
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered as an
indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial
assets, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss - is
removed from equity and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.11 Foreign Currency Translation

a) Functional and presentation currency

The group operates in Fiji and hence the financial statements are presented in Fiji dollars, which is the
group’s functional and presentation currency.

b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Fiji currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.12  Government Grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially as deferred revenue where
there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the group will comply with the conditions
attached to them. Grants that compensate the group for expenses incurred are recognised as revenue in the
statement of comprehensive income on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the group for the cost of an asset are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as revenue on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset.

2.13  Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.14 Income Tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulations is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects either accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the balance date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences and the eligible tax losses can be utilised.

Current and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the statement of comprehensive income,
except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised directly in equity.

The group provides for potential capital gains tax liability that may arise if capital assets were to be ultimately
sold or traded.

2.15 Intangible Assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share
of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill
on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in ‘intangible assets’. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates
is included in ‘investments in associates’ and is tested for impairment as part of the overall balance.
Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated

 impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation
is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

(b) Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (three
to five years).

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an
expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the development of identifiable and unique
software products controlled by the group, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding
costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Costs include the software development,
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful
lives.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.15 Intangible Assets continued

(c) Investment in movie productions

Investments in movie productions have been valued at cost and reduced by an impairment charge to
arrive at a carrying amount which is an amount the company expects to recover from the exploitation
of the copyright in accordance with the Production Investment Agreement.

(d) IRU Capacity

The IRU network capacity has been recorded at cost and is amortised over its estimated useful lives,
as follows:

Australia Link USA Link

-  IP Transit 3 years 3 years
-  STM - 1 10 years 10 years
-  STM - 4 10 years 10 years

(e)  Southern Cross Cable Capacity

The acquisition price of the Southern Cross Cable is recognized at cost. The capacity is amortised over
its useful lives at the rates of 6.67% to 11.11%. Where estimated useful lives or recoverable values have
diminished due to technological change, market conditions or dynamics as amortization is accelerated
and taken up as an impairment loss.

2.16   Inventories

Inventories comprise of merchandise and consumables, and are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
cost of completion and selling expenses.

The cost of inventories has been determined on a weighted average cost basis or first-in-first-out principle
and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location
and condition.

Provisions for inventory obsolescence are raised based on a review of inventories.  Inventories considered
obsolete or un-saleable are written off in the year in which they are identified.

2.17   Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

2.18   Property, Plant and Equipment

 Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition and installation
of the items.



ATH | Annual Report 2013

42 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the year ended 31 March 2013

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
and Subsidiary Companies

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.18   Property, Plant and Equipment continued

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of a replaced part is de-recognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Cost of leasehold land includes initial premium payment or price paid to acquire leasehold land including
acquisition costs.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued
amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

-     Leasehold land Term of lease
-  Buildings 10 - 40 years
- Freehold properties  9 - 13 years
-     Southern Cross Cable IRUs  9 - 82 years
- Exchange plant and telecommunication infrastructure 10 - 15 years
- Subscriber equipment  3 - 20 years
- Trunk network plant 10 - 15 years 
- Plant and machinery  4 - 16 years
- Motor vehicles  3 -  5 years 
- Furniture, fittings and office equipment  3 - 10 years 
- Computer equipment and software  3 -  5 years

The asset's residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
taken into account in determining the results for the year.

2.19   Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation.

 2.20   Revenue Recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the group's activities. Revenue is shown net of Value Added Tax, returns, rebates,
discounts and after eliminating sales within the group.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.20   Revenue Recognition continued

The group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been met for each of the
group's activities as described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable
until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The group bases its estimates on historical
results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.

The group provides telecommunication and related services which include fixed line, mobile and internet
communication services, compilation and publishing of the Fiji Telephone Directory, pre-paid telephony
services, sale of telecommunications related office equipment and provision of management and call centre
services.

a) Sale of telecommunication and related services

Revenue is recognised based on billing cycles through the month.  Unbilled revenue from the billing 
cycle date to the end of each month is recognised as revenue in the month the service is provided.

Revenue from prepaid products and fixed monthly charges billed in advance is deferred and recognised
as revenue either once the related service has been provided or when the product date has expired,
whichever falls earlier.

Revenue from the provision of internet services is recognised upon the use of service by its customers.

Revenue from installation, connection and associated costs are recognised upon completion of the
installation or connection.

Revenue from publication of telephone directories is recognised upon dispatch of the directories for 
distribution.  Advance billings and monies collected in advance are deferred.  Revenue from fixed-
priced contracts in relation to on-line directory is recognised over the term of the contract. Revenue
earned from publication of the telephone directory is stated net of allowances.

b) Sale of equipment

Sale of equipment is recognised when a group entity sells a product to the customer.  Revenue is
recognised at the point the product is dispatched from the warehouse or sold at a group retail outlet.

c) Interest Income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest rate method.

d) Management fees income

Management fees income is recognised on an accrual basis.

e) Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

f) Investment in movie production

Income from exploitation of the copyright in movie production is brought to account when the right
to receive royalty income is established.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

2.21 Segment Reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment
is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject to
risks and return that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

For reporting purposes, the group considers itself to be operating predominantly in the telecommunications
industry and revenue from other sources are not material.  In addition, the group operates predominantly
in Fiji only and hence one geographical segment for reporting purposes. The group has disclosed three
reportable operating segments as follows (as outlined in Note 32):

• Fixed line telecommunications (“FL Telecom”) segment includes all fixed line telecommunication
services including the sale or lease of telecommunications related office equipment, accessories and
services including prepaid telephony and card services;

• Mobile telecommunications (“Mobile Telecom”) segment includes all mobile telecommunication
services including the sale of associated equipment, accessories and services; and

• Other segment comprises units which contribute less than 10% of group total revenue and include
provision of internet services, directory services, PAYECOMM products, call centre and management
services.

2.22   Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.23   Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts
due according to the original terms of the receivables.  Provision is raised on a specific debtor level as well
as on a collective basis. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators
that a specific debtor balance is impaired.   Impairment assessed at a collective level is based on past experience
and data in relation to actual write-offs.  The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the statement of comprehensive
income.

2.24   Trade Payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method.

2.25   Value Added Tax (VAT)

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of Value Added Tax (VAT), except
where the amount of VAT incurred is not recoverable from the taxable authority, it is recognised as part of
the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense, or for trade receivables and trade payables
which are recognised inclusive of VAT.
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NOTE 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial Risk Factors

The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by executive management. Executive management identifies, evaluates and
monitors financial risks in close co-operation with the operating units.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The group largely procures most of its telecommunication equipment and supplies from overseas
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to the US, Australian and NZ dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities.

Management has set up a policy to require group companies to manage their foreign exchange
risk against their functional currency, in this case the Fiji dollar.  Foreign exchange risk arises
when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a
currency other than the Fiji Dollar. For significant settlements, the group companies are required
to seek quotations from recognised banks and use the most favourable exchange rate for purposes
of the settlement.

As at year end, assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are significant and hence
changes in the US, Australian and NZ dollars by 10% (increase or decrease) is expected to have
a significant impact on the net profit and equity balances currently reflected in the group financial
statements.

Further, movements in the value of the Fiji dollar will continue to have a significant impact on
the net profit and equity balances in the group’s financial statements in future, primarily in
relation to the significant capital expenditure outlays in the next financial year and the consistent
procurement of maintenance products and services from overseas.

(ii) Price risk

The group does not have investments in equity securities quoted on stock exchange and hence
is not exposed to equity securities price risk.  The group is not exposed to commodity price risk.

(iii) Regulatory risk

The group’s profitability can be significantly impacted by regulatory agencies established and to
be established which governs the telecommunication sector in Fiji. Specifically retail and wholesale
prices are regulated by the Commerce Commission and the group’s operating environment will
be regulated by Telecom Authority of Fiji when the Telecom Authority of Fiji is fully operational.

(iv) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The group’s investments are on fixed terms with the group intending to hold these investments
until their maturity dates.

The group has significant interest-bearing assets in the form of short-term and long term deposits.
These are at fixed interest rates and hence there are no interest rate risks during the period of
investment.  For re-investment of short and long term deposits, the group negotiates an appropriate
interest rate with the banks and invests with the bank which offers the highest interest return.
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NOTE 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.1 Financial Risk Factors continued

(a) Market risk continued

(iv) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk continued

Given the fixed nature of interest rates described above, the group has a high level of certainty
over the impact on cash flows arising from interest income.  Accordingly the group does not
require simulations to be performed over impact on net profits arising from changes in interest
rates.

In relation to borrowings from FNPF, the group is not exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows
funds at fixed interest rates.

In relation to the bank overdraft from bank, the group to a certain extent is exposed to interest
rate risk as the bank overdraft is at floating interest rates.  The risk is managed closely within the
approved policy parameters.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed at group and at individual entity level. Credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, deposits with banks, as well as credit exposures to wholesale and retail customers, including
outstanding receivables. For banks, only reputable parties with known sound financial standing are
accepted. All new customers undergo a credit check before a credit account is allowed.  Individual
credit limits are set based on internal ratings in accordance with limits set by the executive management.
The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Sales to retail customers can be on credit
depending on whether the customer has a pre-approved credit account or otherwise in cash. The group
holds security deposits for a large number of its customers.

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities to
ensure availability of funding.  The group monitors liquidity through rolling forecasts of the group’s
cash flow position.  Overall the group does not see liquidity risk as high given that a reasonable portion
of revenues are billed and collected in advance or generally within 30 days.

The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the balance date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

At 31 March 2013
Borrowings (Note 22) 8,768 17,613 31,391 31,067
Trade and other payables (Note 24) 78,943 9,142 - -

At 31 March 2012
Borrowings (Note 22) 15,301 15,161 67,756 17,886
Trade and other payables (Note 24) 58,195 13,171 - -

Consolidated
Less than Between 1 Between 3 Over 5

1 year and 2 years and 5 years years
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
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NOTE 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

3.2 Capital Risk Management

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares and/or sell assets to reduce debt. The group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash on hand and at bank and short term deposits. Total
capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 March 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

Total borrowings (Note 22) 88,839 116,104
Less: Cash on hand and at bank (Note 20) (21,048) (30,497)
Less: Short term deposits (Note 20) (4,010) (509)

Net debt 63,781 85,098

Total equity 209,618 271,158

Total capital (total equity plus net debt) 273,399 356,256

Gearing ratio (net debt / total capital x 100) 23% 24%

Consolidated

Less than Between 1 2013 2012
$'000 $'000

3.3   Fair Value Estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate
their fair values. The carrying values of financial liabilities are estimated to approximate their fair values.

NOTE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1    Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.

(a) Fair value of equity instruments

Management uses judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based
on market conditions existing at each balance date.  Given that the entities subject to these investments
are primarily subsidiaries of the holding company, the fair value of the equity instruments is estimated
to assume their carrying values.
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NOTE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS continued

4.1 Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions continued

(b) Estimated impairment of investment in movie productions

The investment in movie productions comprises of a guaranteed and a non-guaranteed portion. The
impairment allowance in Note 14 represents the provision based on the management's assessment of
the expected recoveries of the exploitation of the copyright in the movie productions.

4.2   Critical Judgments in Applying the Entity's Accounting Policies

(a) Impairment of accounts receivable

Impairment of accounts receivable balances is assessed at an individual as well as on a collective level.
 At a collective level, all debtors in the 120 days plus category (excluding those covered by a specific

impairment provision) are estimated to have been impaired and are accordingly provided for.

(b) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment of all property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets at each reporting date. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are
tested for impairment and when there are indicators that the carrying amount may not be recoverable,
a reasonable provision for impairment is created.

(c) Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all tax losses to the extent that taxable profits will be available
against which the losses can be utilised.  Significant management judgment is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely level of future taxable
profits together with future planning strategies. For significant tax losses unutilised, the group sought
an independent opinion on management estimates.

(d) Provision for stock obsolescence

Provision for stock obsolescence is assessed and raised on a specific basis based on a review of inventories.
 Inventories considered obsolete or un-serviceable are written off in the year in which they are identified.

(e) Printed telephone directory - revenue and expense recognition

Revenue related to printed directories is recognised once the directories have been dispatched for
distribution. All advance billings and monies collected in advance are deferred. Costs including
overhead expenses incurred in relation to securing advertisements and in the publishing of the
directories are also deferred until the associated revenues are recognised.

(f) Fair value of equity instruments

Management uses judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based
on market conditions existing at each balance date. Given that the entities subject to these investments
are primarily subsidiaries of the company, the fair value of the equity instruments is estimated to
assume their carrying values.
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Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

NOTE 5. REVENUE

Access fees 9,784 11,040 - -
Call revenue 207,470 193,637 - -
Card services 3,514 3,639 - -
Data network revenue 34,431 22,690 - -
Dividends from subsidiary companies - - 16,380 19,530
Directory revenue 4,104 4,070 - -
Equipment and ancillaries 8,552 5,946 - -
Management fees - 6,323 273 6,323
Operator services 88 121 - -
Other sales and service 2,526 1,945 - -

270,469 249,411 16,653 25,853

NOTE 6. DIRECT COSTS

Airtime and PSTN charges 36,765 35,965 - -
Directory production costs 398 406 - -
Equipment and ancillary costs 36,652 30,395 - -

73,815 66,766 - -
NOTE 7.  OTHER INCOME

Amortisation of government grant 45 45 - -
Bad debts recovered 41 51 - -
Exchange gain:
- realized 890 2,580 - -
- unrealized 398 594 - -
Fair value gain on acquisition of FINTEL - 8,745 - -
Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 3,001 222 33 -
Others 6,337 5,097 27 25

10,712 17,334 60 25

NOTE 8. PERSONNEL COSTS

Wages and salaries, including leave pay and other benefits 34,260 31,331 229 269
FNPF and other superannuation contributions 3,662 3,569 31 26
Other personnel costs 3,016 2,867 6 4

40,938 37,767 266 299

Number of employees as at balance date (Nos.) 1,002 960 4 4
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Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

NOTE 9. OPERATING EXPENSES

Auditors’ remuneration
- Audit services 141 134 10 10
- Other services 45 45 5 7
Bad debts and impairment of receivables (net) 832 811 935 600
Consultancy and contractors fees 593 800 - -
Directors’ remuneration:
- Fees and allowances 278 254 63 63
Electricity 6,712 5,842 13 15
Insurance 3,829 3,861 48 66
Legal and professional 204 851 30 516
Licence fees 9,471 11,216 - -
Operating leases 5,353 6,327 47 47
Provision for stock obsolescence 310 (1,021) - -
Repairs and maintenance 5,092 3,055 3 1
Travelling and transportation 2,343 921 18 62
Others 21,861 20,199 156 484

57,064 53,295 1,328 1,871

NOTE 10. FINANCE INCOME - NET

Finance income:
- Interest income on held-to-maturity  investments 2,790 2,862 2,691 2,740
- Interest income on advances to related parties 60 60 230 1,481

2,850 2,922 2,921 4,221
Interest expense:

- Borrowings (6,456) (8,325) (793) (1,769)

(6,456) (8,325) (793) (1,769)

Finance (cost)/income - net (3,606) (5,403) 2,128 2,452

NOTE 11. INCOME TAX (BENEFIT) / EXPENSE

(a) Income tax (benefit)/expense
Current tax (5,100) 12,397 527 1,567
Deferred tax asset (398) 5,780 - 4
Deferred tax liability (1,175) 1,765 -  -
Effect in change in tax rate from 28% to 20% - (7,170) - -
Over provided in prior years (95) (89) - -

(6,768) 12,683 527 1,571



Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

NOTE 11. INCOME TAX (BENEFIT)/ EXPENSE continued 

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax
 to prima facie tax payable

(Loss)/profit before income tax (34,646) 45,848 17,074 24,928
Tax at the Fiji tax rate of 20% (2012: 28%) (6,927) 9,423 3,415 4,986
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable)
in calculating taxable income:
Export income allowances (15) (487) - -
Non deductible expenses   529 783 279 487
Dividend income - - (3,276) (3,906)
Reversal of impairment loss on investment in subsidiaries (46) - - -
Amortisation of government grant (9) (12) - -
Investment allowances (552) (3,065) - -
Temporary differences and tax losses not recognised 90 13,299 - -
Over provision in income tax in prior years (19) (89)                   76                     -
Under/(over) provision of deferred tax in prior years (226) 4                     2                     4
Effect of change in tax rate - (7,170)    - -
Others 407 (3) 31 -

Income tax (benefit)/expense reported in the statement
of comprehensive income (6,768) 12,683 527 1,571

(c) Un-recognised deferred income tax asset balances

Un-recognised tax losses 21,590 19,483 - -
Un-recognised temporary differences 17 - - -

Un-recognised deferred tax balances 21,607 19,483 - -

NOTE 12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic
Basic earnings per share are calculated in accordance with the policy outlined in Note 2.8.

Profit attributable to equity holders of
the company ($ '000) (15,905) 18,362
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue (nos.) 422,104,868 422,104,868
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) (4) 4

(b) Diluted - Diluted earnings per share is same as basic earnings per share.
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NOTE 13.        PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold land
and buildings

$'000

Telecommuni-
cations equipment

and plant
$'000

Freehold
properties

$'000

Computer
equipment

$'000

Furniture,
fittings and

office equipment
$'000

Motor
vehicles

$'000

Capital
spares

$'000

Capital
work in

progress
$'000

Year ended 31 March 2013
Opening net book amount 24,018 295,722 3,435 12,691 6,043 1,054 1,692 10,174 354,829
Additions 217 656 - 222 173 106 2,676 46,928 50,978
Disposals (948) (69,935) - (113) - (7) - (173) (71,176)
Transfers - 43,932 - 344 52 - - (44,328)  -
Consumed during the year - - - - - - (2,847) - (2,847)
Reclassification to intangible asset - (13,282) - - - - - (930) (14,212)
Reclassification to inventories - - - - - - - (558) (558)
Depreciation (1,394) (41,636) (77) (4,764) (1,334) (616) - - (49,821)
Impairment loss/
reversal of impairment loss - (3,028) - - - - 24 (325) (3,329)

Closing net book amount 21,893 212,429 3,358 8,380 4,934 537 1,545 10,788 263,864

At 31 March 2013
Cost 43,386 616,465 3,687 50,782 18,500 11,324 1,667 11,113 756,924
Accumulated depreciation (21,493) (401,008) (329) (42,402) (13,566) (10,787) - - (489,585)
Accumulated impairment allowance - (3,028) - - - - (122) (325) (3,475)

Net book amount 21,893 212,429 3,358 8,380 4,934 537 1,545 10,788 263,864

Total

$'000CONSOLIDATED

An impairment assessment of the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets was performed by FINTEL group at year end. The FINTEL
group recorded an impairment loss of $3,028,000 on plant and equipment and impairment loss of $4,922,448 on intangible assets (Note 14) in the
current year.

In the prior year, TFL had acquired e-ticketing bus consoles and related equipment & accessories amounting to $883,590 in respect to the bus fare e-
ticketing project which was recorded as capital work in progress. During the year, the bus fare e-ticketing project was awarded to other mobile telecom
operators. However, the management is of the view that the e-ticketing consoles amounting to $558,159 can be used by TFL for other economic
benefit subject to further test or configuration and accordingly, these e-ticketing bus consoles have been transferred to inventories. Full provision for
stock obsolescence has been recorded on this balance. The related bus fare e-ticketing project equipment amounting to $325,431 is still recorded
under capital work in progress and full impairment allowance has been created for this balance.
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Leasehold land
and buildings

$'000

Telecommuni-
cations equipment

and plant
$'000

Freehold
properties

$'000

Computer
equipment

$'000

Furniture,
fittings and

office equipment
$'000

Motor
vehicles

$'000

Capital
spares

$'000

Capital
work in

progress
$'000

Year ended 31 March 2012
Opening net book amount 19,688 269,076 - 15,687 6,091 2,115 1,468 33,504 347,629
Additions 5,557 26,951 3,435 828 1,190 346 2,542 18,919 59,768
Disposals - - - - (2) (21) - (6,562) (6,585)
Transfers - 34,094 - 1,489 104 - - (35,687)  -
Consumed during the year - - - - - (2,318) - (2,318)
Reversal of impairment loss - 7,603 - - - - - - 7,603
Depreciation/impairment charge (1,227) (42,002) - (5,313) (1,340) (1,386) - - (51,268)

Closing net book amount 24,018 295,722 3,435 12,691 6,043 1,054 1,692 10,174 354,829

At 31 March 2012
Cost 45,403 763,253 3,687 51,623 18,811 12,247 1,838 10,174 907,036
Accumulated depreciation (21,385) (471,686) (252) (38,932) (12,768) (11,193) - - (556,216)
Reversal of impairment - 4,155 - - - - - - 4,155
Accumulated impairment allowance - - - - - - (146) - (146)

Net book amount 24,018 295,722 3,435 12,691 6,043 1,054 1,692 10,174 354,829

Total

$'000

NOTE 13.        PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

CONSOLIDATED

Included in leasehold land and buildings are properties shared by TFL and Post Fiji Limited and reflects the amount to the extent funded by TFL up
to 30 June 1996 and any subsequent costs incurred by TFL on the properties thereafter. The titles in relation to the shared land and buildings are
not held in the name of TFL. Furthermore, there is an ownership dispute between Post Fiji Limited and TFL in respect to the New Wing Building in
Suva. The dispute is currently subject to court proceedings.

The reversal of impairment loss of $7.6 million was in respect to VTSAT at Yaqara. Impairment loss which was recognised during 2007 has been
reversed based on evaluation and reassessment carried out by the management taking into consideration current usage and future usage.

Included in additions in prior year were property, plant and equipment acquired on consolidation of FINTEL results in March 2012. The written
down value of FINTEL assets included in additions is $34.2 million.
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NOTE 13.        PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

Leasehold land
and buildings

$'000

Telecommuni-
cations equipment

and plant
$'000

Computer
equipment

$'000

Furniture,
fittings and

office equipment
$'000

Motor
vehicles

$'000

Capital
spares

$'000

Capital
work in

progress
$'000

Total

$'000

Year ended 31 March 2013
Opening net book amount - - 11 - - - - 11
Additions - - 1 1 - - - 2
Transfers - - - - - - - -
Depreciation charge - - (6) - - - - (6)

Closing net book amount - - 6 1 - - - 7

At 31 March 2013
Cost - - 140 165 - - - 305
Accumulated depreciation - - (134) (164) - - - (298)

Net book amount - - 6 1 - - - 7

COMPANY

Leasehold land
and buildings

$'000

Telecommuni-
cations equipment

and plant
$'000

Computer
equipment

$'000

Furniture,
fittings and

office equipment
$'000

Motor
vehicles

$'000

Capital
spares

$'000

Capital
work in

progress
$'000

Year ended 31 March 2012
Opening net book amount - - 20 9 9 - - 38
Additions - - - - - - - -
Transfers - -                       - -                       - - -                        -
Depreciation charge - - (9) (9) (9) - - (27)

Closing net book amount - - 11 - - - - 11

At 31 March 2012
Cost - - 139 164 43 - - 346
Accumulated depreciation - - (128) (164) (43) - - (335)

Net book amount - - 11 - - - - 11

Total

$'000COMPANY
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Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

NOTE 14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Movie productions
Gross carrying amount:
Balance as at 1 April 17,854 17,854 - -
Additions/(disposals) - - - -

Balance as at 31 March 17,854 17,854 - -

Accumulated impairment allowance:
Balance as at 1 April 17,854 17,854 - -
Impairment allowance - - - -

Balance as at 31 March 17,854 17,854 - -

Net book amount - - - -

Computer software costs  
  Gross carrying amount:

Balance as at 1 April 32,386 31,731 - -
Additions 53 655 - -
Reclassified from property, plant and equipment 930 - - -
Disposals (285) - - -

Balance as at 31 March 33,084 32,386 - -

Accumulated impairment allowance:
Balance as at 1 April 25,425 22,402 - -
Impairment allowance 2,795 3,023 - -
Disposals (130) - - -

Balance as at 31 March 28,090 25,425 - -

Net book amount 4,994 6,961 - -

Indefeasible Rights of Use capacity
  Gross carrying amount:

Balance as at 1 April 18,629 17,145 - -
Reclassified from property, plant and equipment 53,949 - - -
Additions 1,398 1,484 - -

Balance as at 31 March 73,976 18,629 - -

Accumulated impairment allowance:
Balance as at 1 April 3,658 597 - -
Reclassified from property, plant and equipment 40,667 - - -
Impairment allowance 4,595 3,061 - -
Impairment loss 4,922 - - -

Balance as at 31 March 53,842 3,658 - -

Net book amount 20,134 14,971 - -

Total intangible assets, net 25,128 21,932 - -
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NOTE 14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued

Investments in movie productions comprise of investments in "Straight Edge", "Smilodon", "The Great North Pole
Elf Strike" and "Pirate Islands 2" movie projects.  All movie projects have been granted F1 Provisional Certificate
by the Fiji Audio Visual Commission and thereby incentives by way of 150% tax deductions are available.  They
have been valued at cost and reduced by an impairment charge to arrive at a carrying amount which is an amount
the group expects to recover from the exploitation of the copyright in accordance with the Production Investment
Agreement.

Indefeasible Rights of Use (“IRU”) capacity relates to the lease of IRU network capacity by TFL and Fiji International
Telecommunications Limited. The IRU network capacity is capitalised into intangible assets and is amortised over
its useful lives. The useful lives of the IRU network capacity are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each balance
date.

NOTE 15.  INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments consist of equity investments in subsidiary companies, all of which are unlisted and denominated in
local currencies and are stated at cost.  Carrying values are as follows:

Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Shares in subsidiary companies:

Non-current
- At cost - - 177,013 177,013
Less: Provision for impairment - - (1,303) (1,150)

- - 175,710 175,863

NOTE 16. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

Non-current
Fiji Government Registered Stock 36,979 48,310 36,979 48,310
Add unamortised premium 22 26 22 26

37,001 48,336 37,001 48,336

Current
Fiji Government Registered Stock 11,331 320 11,331 320
Short term deposits 1,000 1,100 - -

12,331 1,420 11,331 320

Total 49,332 49,756 48,332 48,656

The above investments are accounted for as held-to-maturity as they are considered likely to be held to maturity
in line with investment objectives and fixed price nature of the investments.  They are hence stated at amortised
cost. The carrying values of the Fiji Government Registered securities are considered to be their reasonable
approximation of their fair values.
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NOTE 17. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The following provides a breakdown of deferred tax assets and liabilities at balance date:

Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(a) Deferred tax assets
Provision for  impairment of trade receivables 3,122 1,913 - -
Provision for employee entitlements 1,432 1,324 5 4
Provision for stock obsolescence 576 503 - -
Tax losses 3,303 2,668 - -
Depreciation - 3 1 3
Deferred revenue 162 114 -                -
Unrealised exchange loss 35 184 - -
Others 265 48 -           -

8,895 6,757 6 7

(b) Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred expenses 16 16 - -
Depreciation 19,580 25,271 - -
Unrealised exchange gain 80 137 - -

19,676 25,424 - -

NOTE 18. INVENTORIES

Consumables and finished goods 12,991 12,257 - -
Goods in transit 834 352 - -

13,825 12,609 - -
Provision for stock obsolescence (2,924) (2,516) - -

10,901 10,093 - -

NOTE 19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Non-current

Advance to Amalgamated Telecom Nominees Limited (a) 4,983 4,983 4,983 4,983
Advance to Vodafone Fiji Limited (c) - - - 20,000

4,983 4,983 4,983 24,983

Current

Trade receivables (b) 52,604 43,119 - -
Less: Unearned income (1,471) (1,415) - -

51,133 41,704 - -

Less: Provision for impairment (16,848) (17,296) - -

34,285 24,408 - -
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NOTE 19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES continued

Current continued

Accrued revenue 3,826 3,479 1,960 1,858
Dividends receivable - - 17,880 12,700
Advance to Vodafone Fiji Limited (c) - - - 599
M-PAiSA trust 2,833 1,065 - -
Receivable from related parties 2,142 1,479 6,451 5,001
Other receivables and advances 8,013 9,100 584 262
Less: Provision for impairment (271) (128) (1,535) (600)

50,828 39,403 25,340 19,820

(a) The advance to Amalgamated Telecom Nominees Limited is unsecured and subject to interest at the rate
of 1.2% per annum.

(b) The carrying value of the trade and other receivables and receivables from related parties are considered to
be reasonable approximation of their fair values.

(c) In the current year, the loan of $20 million from FNPF which was on lent to VFL was transferred to FNPF.
VFL will now have to pay FNPF directly.

(d) Trade receivables that are less than 3 and 4 months past due are not considered impaired.  As at 31 March
2013, trade receivables of $34,285,000 (2012: $24,408,000) were not considered impaired.

As of 31 March 2013, trade receivables for the group of $17,119,000 (2012: $17,424,000) were impaired
and provided for. The company impaired and provided for receivables from a related entity of $1,535,000
(2012: $600,000). The individually impaired receivables mainly relates to customers, who have defaulted
in payments. It was assessed that a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

As at 1 April 17,424 17,449 600 -
Provision for impairment of receivables 907 828 935 600
Amounts written off during the year 18 (137) - -
Reversals during the year (1,230) (716) - -

As at 31 March 17,119 17,424 1,535 600

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in "Operating expenses" and
“Other income” in the statement of comprehensive income (Note 9 and Note 7 respectively). Amounts charged
to the allowance account are generally written off, when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned
above.  The group generally obtains security deposits for all new LAN line and Internet connections.  Apart from
this, it does not hold any collateral as security.  The total carrying amount of security deposits in relation to the
above trade receivables carried by the group is $4,898,000 (2012: $4,838,000).
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Number of
issued shares

(Nos.)

Value of
ordinary shares

$'000

Total

$'000
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NOTE 20.      NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash And Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows comprise the following amounts:

Cash on hand and at bank 21,048 30,497 899 8,231
Short term deposits 4,010 509 - -

25,058 31,006 899 8,231

NOTE 21.      SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 March 2013 and 2012 422,104,868 105,526 105,526

The total authorised number of ordinary shares of the company is 40,000,000,000 shares (2012: 40,000,000,000
shares) with a par value of $0.25 per share (2012: $0.25 per share).  All issued shares are fully paid.

NOTE 22. BORROWINGS

Non-current
Term loans - ANZ                              (i) - 21,107 - -
Term loans - FNPF                            (ii) 67,505 65,878 - 20,000
Term loan - BSP                               (iii) 4,189 4,599 4,189 4,599
Term loan - Westpac (iv) 8,377 9,219 8,377 9,219

80,071 100,803 12,566 33,818

Current
Term loans - ANZ (i) - 5,419 - -
Term loans - FNPF (ii) 7,507 8,678 - -
Term loan - BSP (iii) 420 401 420 401
Term loan - Westpac (iv) 841 803 841 803

8,768 15,301 1,261 1,204

Total borrowings 88,839 116,104 13,827 35,022

Term loans consist of the following:

(i) As part of restructuring of borrowings, TFL obtained further loan of $25.7 million from FNPF to settle the
loan from Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited (ANZ Bank). TFL has indemnity guarantee
and visa business credit card facilities with ANZ Bank. These facilities are secured by letter of charge over
term deposit funds. TFL has also given negative pledge to bank.
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NOTE 22. BORROWINGS continued

(ii) Prior year loan of $53.2m from FNPF obtained by TFL was combined with the additional loan with new
terms and conditions. The interest rate on the loan is fixed at 6.5% for the initial 5 years of the loan term
and will be varied for the remaining 5 years of the loan term. The loan is payable at monthly repayments of
$897,174 inclusive of interest. The term loan is secured by first registered mortgage debenture over all the
assets of the company except for TFL New Wing Building in Suva and comprehensive insurance cover over
the property with improvements thereon.

The FNPF loan facility also allows TFL to redraw the excess funds paid during the term of the loan on the
condition that there is no breach in security and financial covenants. The excess payments made may be
withdrawn without any penalty or fees. As at balance date, TFL has made payments amounting to $18.5m
towards the redraw facility.

During the year, the holding company transferred the loan of $20 million receivable from VFL to FNPF as
the ultimate lender of the loan. The interest rate on the loan is 4.95% and is secured by a registered equitable
mortgage debenture over all assets and undertakings of the VFL, including called and uncalled capital.

(iii) The loan from Bank of South Pacific is subject to interest rate of 4.7% per annum with monthly repayments
of $52,303. This loan is unsecured.

(iv) The loan from Westpac Banking Corporation is subject to interest rate of 4.7% per annum with monthly
repayments of $104,700. This loan is unsecured.

The fair value of current borrowings and non-current borrowings equals their carrying amount as the impact
of discounting is not significant.

Dividends

$'000

Income
tax

$'000

Employee
entitlements

$'000

Directory
production

costs
$'000

Consolidated

As at 1 April 2012 21,623 6,057 6,663 94 34,437
Additional provisions recognized 32,315 937 6,367 - 39,619
Non-cash adjustments - (32) - - (32)
Paid during the year (23,188) (12,258) (5,868) (47) (41,361)
Unused amounts reversed - (95) -   -            (95)
Under provision in prior year - (21) - - (21)

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2013 30,750 (5,412) 7,162 47 32,547

Company

As at 1 April 2012 8,442 1,388 18 - 9,848
Additional provisions recognized 18,995 527 7 - 19,529
Paid during the year (14,774) (1,964) - - (16,738)
Non-cash adjustments - (32) - - (32)
Over provision in prior year - (1) - - (1)

Carrying amount as at 31 March 2013 12,663 (82) 25 - 12,606

Total

$'000NOTE 23. PROVISIONS
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NOTE 23. PROVISIONS continued

Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Analysis of total provisions:

Non-current 998 768 - -
Current 31,549 33,669 12,606 9,848

32,547 34,437 12,606 9,848

(a) Income tax - relates to income tax payable for current financial year.

(b) Employee entitlements consists of the following:

Annual leave 840 1,010 25 18
Bonus 5,016 4,855 - -
Long service leave 354 128 - -
Retirement benefits 666 670 - -
Others 286 - - -

7,162 6,663 25 18

Annual Leave
Generally annual leave is taken within one year of entitlement and accordingly it is expected that a significant
portion of the total annual leave balance will be utilised within the next financial year. Note 2.9 outlines
the accounting policy and underlying basis for these accruals.

Long service leave and retirement benefits
Long service leave and retirement benefits are accrued for employees entitled to the same under their terms
of employment. Note 2.9 outlines the accounting policy and underlying basis for these accruals.

Bonus
Bonus provisions are expected to be significantly settled within 12 months after the end of the financial
year. Note 2.9 outlines the accounting policy and underlying basis for these accruals.

NOTE 24.     TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

   Non-current
Trade payables and accruals 4,244 8,333 - -
Subscriber deposits 4,898 4,838 - -

9,142 13,171 - -

Current
Trade payables and accruals 58,109 45,151 434 1,270
E-value in circulation 2,833 1,065 - -
Owing to related parties 4,831 1,247 - 573
Deferred revenue 13,170 10,732 - -

78,943 58,195 434 1,843

Total 88,085 71,366 434 1,843

The fair value of current liabilities and non-current liabilities equals their carrying amount, as the impact of
discounting is not significant.
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NOTE 25.     DEFERRED INCOME

Non-current
Government grant 6,459 6,459 - -
Less: Accumulated amortization (6,155) (6,109) - -

304 350 - -

NOTE 26. DIVIDENDS

Ordinary shares
Final dividend for the year 12,663 8,443 12,663 8,443
Interim dividend for the year 6,332 4,222 6,332 4,222

18,995 12,665 18,995 12,665

NOTE 27.  CONTINGENCIES

Following is a summary of estimated contingent liabilities:

Performance guarantees 1,696 1,634 - -
Litigations 105 369 - 104
Movie investment tax incentive allowance - 2,124 - -

1,801 4,127 - 104

(a) Legal claims

Various claims have been brought against subsidiary companies. The directors have obtained legal advice on
these claims and are confident that no significant liability other than those that have been brought to account
or have been disclosed will eventuate.

(b) Dispute with Post Fiji Limited

Included in leasehold land and buildings are properties shared with Post Fiji Limited and reflect the amount
to the extent funded by TFL up to 30 June 1996 and any subsequent costs incurred by TFL on the properties
thereafter. The titles in relation to the shared land and buildings are not registered in the name of TFL.
Furthermore, there is an ownership dispute with Post Fiji Limited in respect to TFL New Wing Building in
Suva. The dispute is currently subject to court proceedings.

Based on the opinion of TFL's solicitors, no significant liability is expected to arise ultimately in respect to
this litigation.

(c) VAT liabilities

During the year, Fiji Revenue & Customs Authority (FRCA) carried out tax audit covering the years 2010
to 2012. Amended VAT assessments were raised by FRCA imposing additional VAT liabilities in respect to
fringe benefits provided by TFL to its employees. The VAT liabilities are subject to certain disputes and
disagreements and TFL has filed an objection to the assessments. Further representations and submissions
have been made by TFL to FRCA in respect of this matter and for reversal of excessive assessments.

In the opinion of TFL management, no significant liability is expected to eventuate upon ultimate resolution
of this matter.
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Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

NOTE 28. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure commitments as at balance date are as follows:

Intangible assets 65 55 65 30
Property, plant and equipment 19,001 45,718 - 55

Capital expenditure commitments primarily relate to various capital investment schemes, programs and
initiatives approved by the Board.

(b) Operating leases

The group leases various premises under non-cancellable operating leases.  These leases have varying terms,
escalation clauses and renewal rights.  On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as
follows:

Within one year 2,833 3,357 58 38
Later than one year but not later than five years 5,327 5,424 - -
Later than five years 24,419 25,158 - -

32,579 33,939 58 38

(c) Operating lease income

The group leases various premises under non-cancellable operating leases. These leases have varying terms,
escalation clauses and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as
follows:

Within one year 1,638 1,653 - -
Later than one year but not later than five years 2,421 1,394 - -
Later than five years 13,603 14,470 - -

17,662 17,517 - -

(d) Operating licence commitment

Certain subsidiaries within the group is committed to pay license to the Government of Fiji at 1.5% of the
audited annual gross revenue which arises directly from the provision of services under the License in the
preceding year and such annual gross revenue shall be calculated net of settlement with other licenses in Fiji
and net of VAT.

The subsidiaries are also committed to pay Universal Service Levy to the Government of Fiji at 0.5% of the
audited annual gross revenue which arises directly from the provision of services under the License in the
current year and such annual gross revenue shall be calculated net of settlements with other licenses in Fiji
and net of VAT.
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NOTE 29. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Parent entity

The company is a subsidiary of Fiji National Provident Fund.

(b) Directors

The names of persons who were directors of the company at any time during the financial year are as follows:

Mr Ajith Kodagoda - Chairman 
Mr David Kolitagane - Deputy Chairman
Mr Arun Narsey
Mr Taito Waqa
Mr Tom Ricketts
Mr Umarji Musa 

Directors' remuneration is disclosed under Note 9.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

(c)  Sales of services and interest

(i) By ATH

 Interest income from subsidiary company 60 60 230 1,481
  Management fee from subsidiary company - - 273 -
 Management fee income from
  Government of Fiji (shareholder) - 6,279 - 6,279

(ii) ATH group - provision of telecommunication
related services

Interconnect and rental revenue 19,834 15,052 - -

During the year, the group provided telecommunication related services to the FNPF, Government
of Fiji, other Government owned entities, directors and director related entities and to executives.
These services were provided at normal commercial rates, terms and conditions.

(d)  Superannuation

Fiji National Provident Fund 3,662 3,569 30 26
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Notes
Consolidated Company

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(e)  Purchases of services

Following is a summary of different purchase transactions the group has had with the subsidiaries and related
entities during the year:

Advertising expense 7 33 7 6
Billing bureau charges - related entities 1,391 1,677 - -
Communications and internet 7,083 70 14 4
Call Centre charges 903 903 - -
Equipment and ancillaries 6,681 1,735 - -
Interest expenses and fees 5,924 6,966 793 1,867
Isaac support - other related entities 83 88 - -
Network support - other related entities 1,376 891 - -
Operating leases - parent entity 500 644 47 47
Roaming call charges - related entities 598 1,011 - -
Others 188 186 - 26

(f) Other transactions 

-   Purchase of assets 799 - - -
 -   Loan from subsidiary - - - 10,000

- Dividends from subsidiaries - - 16,380 19,530

All transactions with related parties are conducted on commercial terms and conditions.

(g) Key management compensation

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 4,428 5,343 150 148

(h) Year-end balances arising from sales/purchases of services

Receivables from related parties (Note 19):
-   Dividend receivable from subsidiaries - - 17,880 12,700
- subsidiary companies 2,142 1,479 6,451 5,600

  Payables to related parties (Note 24):
- related entities 4,831 1,247 - 573

(i) Loans and advances to/(from) related parties

Advance to Vodafone Fiji Limited (Note 19) - - - 20,000
Advance to Amalgamated Telecom Nominees
Limited (Note 19) 4,983 4,983 4,983 4,983

Refer Note 19 for terms underlying the advance to subsidiary.

(j) Borrowings from ultimate parent entity

Term loans - FNPF  (Note 22) 75,012 74,556 - 20,000

NOTE 29. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS  continued



Equity holding (%)

2013 2012
Immediate

parent
Class of
shares

ATH  Call Centre Limited ATH Ordinary 100% 100%
ATH Technology Park Limited ATH Ordinary 100% 100%
Fiji Directories Limited ATH Ordinary 90% 90%
FINTEL ATH Ordinary 49% 49%
Pacific Emerging Technologies Limited ATH Ordinary 51% 51%
Vodafone Fiji Limited ATH Ordinary 51% 51%
Telecom Fiji Limited ATH Ordinary 100% 100%
Internet Services Fiji Limited TFL Ordinary 100% 100%
Transtel Limited TFL Ordinary 100% 100%
Xceed Pasifika Limited TFL Ordinary 100% 100%
FINTEL Internet Services Limited FINTEL Ordinary 100% 100%

All companies are incorporated in Fiji and have the same balance date as the parent entity.

The financial statements of Fiji Directories Limited and the Telecom Group which include TFL and its subsidiary
companies Internet Services Fiji Limited, Transtel Limited and Xceed Pasifika Limited are audited by G.Lal + Co.
The financial statements of FINTEL are audited by PKF Fiji.

The principal activity of Amalgamated Telecom Nominees Limited (ATN) is to hold the shares of Amalgamated
Telecom Holdings Limited for the qualifying employees of the ATH Group under Employee Share Option Plan.
Accordingly, the financial statements of ATN are not consolidated in the consolidated financial statements. In
accordance with the Employee Share Option Plan Trust Deed dated 8 October 2002 and amendments thereto,
any surplus balance in the Cash Fund upon liquidation of ATN and after satisfaction of all obligations will be paid
to the holding company.
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NOTE 30.     SUBSIDIARY ENTITIES

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries
in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 2.2:

Investment
Book Value

($)Entity
Place

of
Incorporation

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings (PNG) Limited (non-operating entity) PNG 50% 1

%
Owned

NOTE 31. ASSOCIATED ENTITY
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NOTE 32. SEGMENT REPORTING

Fixed
Line

Telecom
$'000

Mobile
Telecom

$'000

Other

$'000

Elimination

$'000

Consolidated

$'000

Revenue
External customer 74,111 178,465 17,893  - 270,469
Inter-segment  - operating 9,065 9,229 21,624 (39,918) -
Other revenue 7,917 1,730 1,088 (24) 10,711

Total revenue 91,093 189,424 40,605 (39,942) 281,180

Results
Depreciation and amortisation 30,037 22,322 4,852 - 57,211
Finance cost/(income) 4,313 1,478 (2,185) - 3,606
Direct and other expenditure 62,575 190,255 26,381 (24,202) 255,009

Segment profit before tax (5,832) (24,631) 11,557 (15,740) (34,646)

Operating assets 199,766 151,244 304,108 (216,049) 439,069

Operating liabilities 112,025 111,512 41,601 (35,687) 229,451

Other disclosures
Capital expenditure 9,287 42,528 614 - 52,429

31 March 2013

Fixed
Line

Telecom
$'000

Mobile
Telecom

$'000

Other

$'000

Elimination

$'000

Consolidated

$'000

Revenue
External customer 72,959 163,740 12,712 - 249,411
Inter-segment  - operating 5,862 9,733 21,017 (36,612) -
Other revenue 4,691 3,776 122 8,745 17,334

Total revenue 83,512 177,249 33,851 (27,867) 266,745

Results
Depreciation and amortisation 33,237 22,918 1,197 - 57,352
Finance cost/(income) 5,767 2,126 (2,490) - 5,403
Direct and other expenditure 52,934 114,131 8,314 (17,237) 158,142

Segment profit before tax (8,426) 38,074 26,830 (10,630) 45,848

Operating assets 229,774 189,008 332,122 (232,065) 518,839

Operating liabilities 137,957 99,506 61,636 (51,418) 247,681

Other disclosures
Capital expenditure 6,865 20,472 362                       - 27,699

31 March 2012
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NOTE 33.     PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the company during the year were that of investments and provision of management
services.

The principal activities of the subsidiary entities during the year were providing international and local
telecommunication services and telephone equipment, compilation and publishing of the Fiji telephone directory,
provision of internet connection and internet related services, operation of a mobile telecommunications network,
provision of pre-paid telephony services, provision of mobile phone money transfer service, managing PAYECOMM
products, sale of ICT equipment and solutions, and development of a technology park including call centres, data
warehouse and processing centres.

There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

NOTE 34.  SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR

During the year:

(i) TFL obtained a further loan of $25,782,198 from FNPF to settle the loan from ANZ Bank as part of
restructuring of borrowings. Accordingly, prior year loan from FNPF of $53,230,583 was combined with
the additional loan with new terms and conditions;

(ii) On 31 March 2013, TFL acquired Transtel Limited's business assets and business operations of marketing
and selling of prepaid transactions cards;

(iii) On 31 March 2013, TFL also acquired ATH Call Centre Limited's business assets and business operations
of operating a call centre. Plant, equipment and intangible assets were transferred to TFL at an agreed price;

(iv) TFL sold its property located at Walu Bay for a consideration of $3.75 million (VEP);

(v) In December 2012, severe tropical cyclone partially damaged the communication infrastructure and affected
some operations of TFL. As a result, TFL incurred losses of approximately $800,000 in respect to repairs
and maintenance, loss of stock and business interruption. There was no insurance recovery as the losses were
under insurance cover excess amount;

(vi) On 27 August 2012, the directors of FINTEL resolved to fold back the operations of the subsidiary business
of FINTEL Internet Services Limited trading as KIDANET with the company. The fold back process was
implemented from the second half of the financial year with staff being made redundant in September to
October. As a result, $359,500 was paid out as redundancy payments. The remaining staff of 15 of the
subsidiary company were re-employed by the company. The operations were restructured and managed by
the company;

(vii) During the year, VFL undertook a major network transformation program where it replaced its entire mobile
telecommunications network infrastructure. The old network assets were disposed during the year; and
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NOTE 34.  SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR continued

(viii) On 27 May 2009, the National High Court of Papua New Guinea issued an order of judgment in favour of
the associate entity, Amalgamated Telecom Holdings (PNG) Limited, Steamships Trading Limited and the
company. The judgment was against the Independent State of Papua New Guinea

The litigation related to the share acquisition agreement entered between the Independent Public Business
Corporation of PNG and Amalgamated Telecom Holdings (PNG) Limited. Under the terms of the share
acquisition agreement, Amalgamated Telecom Holdings (PNG) Limited was to acquire 50.1% of the shares
in Telikom PNG Limited. However, due to the non performance of the contract by the Independent Public
Business Corporation of PNG, the sale of Telikom PNG Limited shares to Amalgamated Telecom Holdings
(PNG) Limited did not proceed.

At 31 March 2013, no settlement has been received by the company. However, the company received an
offer for an out of court settlement for consideration.

NOTE 35.     EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE

Subsequent to balance date,

(i) Effective from 1 April 2013, FINTEL acquired the assets and liabilities of the subisidary company, FINTEL
Internet Services Limited. The assets and liabilities were transferred at their carrying values in the books of
account as at 31 March 2013. The KIDANET brand and services will be maintained and managed by the
company. Subsequent to the transfer, the subsidiary company became dormant. FINTEL is in the process
of completing the formalities in relation to the restructure of operations of the subsidiary company; and

(ii) VFL has entered into a Management agreement to manage the business of Bemobile in Papua New Guinea
and Solomon Islands. Under the agreement, VFL will be paid management fees.

Apart from the matters noted above, no other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the
financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the group or any
company in the group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the group or any company in the
group in future financial years.

NOTE 36.     RESTATMENT OF NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

During the year, FINTEL recorded a restatement of deferred tax liability arising from excess deferred tax recorded
in previous years. A restatement of the deferred tax liability and asset revaluation reserve was recorded in the
current year of $300,000 by FINTEL. Consequently, non-controlling interest initially recorded on acquisition of
FINTEL had to be restated. This resulted in an adjustment of $153,000 in the current year.
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1.  Statement of interest (direct and indirect) of each director in the share capital of the company as at 31 March
2013: .

Directors Direct Interest (Number of Shares) Indirect Interest (Number of Shares)
- - -

2. Shareholding of those persons holding the 20 largest blocks of shares: .

Shareholders No. of Shares

Fiji National Provident Fund 245,960,597

Republic of Fiji Islands 145,932,209

Unit Trust of Fiji 8,715,886

Fijians Trust Fund 5,000,000

Amalgamated Telecom Nominees Limited 4,700,193

Yasana Holdings Limited 2,089,587

Fiji National Provident Fund Nominees Limited 1,930,666

Fijian Holdings Limited 1,000,000

FHL Trustees Limited - Fijian Holdings Unit Trust 973,648

Kiran Lata Kumar 346,326

Banaban Trust Fund board 200,000

Colonial Fiji Life Limited 180,324

Dominion Insurance Limited 179,814

JP Bayly Trust 111,500

RFMF Army Medical Scheme 100,000

Nakuruvakarua Company Limited 100,000

Naitasiri Provincial Council 94,350

Lomaiviti Provincial Council 94,340

Rewa Provincial Council                                                                                                                                       94,300

Kanti Tappoo                                                                                                                                       92,581

3. Distribution of share holding under Section 6.31(v):.

Holding

Less than 500 shares 14 0.00

500 to 5,000 shares 678 0.30

5,001 to 10,000 shares 95 0.19

10,001 to 20,000 shares 41 0.16

20,001 to 30,000 shares 11 0.07

30,001 to 40,000 shares 2 0.02

40,001 to 50,000 shares 14 0.16

50,001 to 100,000 shares 12 0.23

100,001 to 1,000,000 shares 7 0.71

Over 1,000,000 shares 7 98.16

Total 881 100%

No. of Holders Total % Holding
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4. Mr Ajith Kodagoda has waived emolument due to him on his appointment as Chairman of the Board of Directors
on 18 August 2010.

5. Disclosure on the trading results of each subsidiary under Section 6.31(viii):.

FINTEL Transtel
Limited

Xceed
Pasifika
Limited

Fiji
Directories

 Ltd

Internet
Services
Fiji Ltd

ATH
Technology

Park Ltd

ATH
Call Centre

Ltd

Pacific
Emerging

Technologies
 Ltd

(Amount in $'000)

Sales revenue 83,165 187,694 14,115 10 - 4,104 - - 903 3,742
Other operating
revenue (excluding
dividends) 7,898 1,730 928 34 - 94 - - - 7

91,063 189,424 15,043 44 - 4,198 - - 903 3,749

Depreciation and
amortization 30,045 22,322 4,044 13 - 202 - 21 272 306

Other expenses 62,389 190,254 17,692 (30) - 2,232 - 55 1,562 3,380
Finance cost/(income) 4,313 1,479 (30) - - (25) - - - (2)
Income tax expense/
(benefit) (1,546) (4,861) (1,215) - - 366 - - - (40)

      95,201 209,194 20,491 (30) - 2,775 - 76 1,834 3,344

Net (loss) / profit after
income tax (excluding
dividends) (4,138) (19,770) (5,448) 62 - 1,423 - (76) (931) 405

Vodafone
Fiji Ltd

Telecom
Fiji Ltd

Operating assets 192,733 151,244 35,837 4,111 2,935 4,778 - 2,486 3,240 2,926

Operating liabilities 112,032 111,512 2,182 2 4 2,583 3,615 1,128 4,774 887

Shareholders' equity 80,701 39,732 33,655 4,109 2,931 2,195 3,615 1,358  (1,534) 2,039

6. Share Register

Amalgamated Telecom Holdings Limited
Harbour Front Building
Rodwell Road
Suva



7. Group Consolidated Ten Years Financial Performance

For the
12 months ended

31 March 2011
($'000)

For the
12 months ended

31 March 2010
($'000)

For the
12 months ended

31 March 2009
($'000)

For the
12 months ended

31 March 2008
($'000)

For the
12 months ended

31 March 2007
($'000)

For the
12 months ended

31 March 2006
($'000)

For the
12 months ended

31 March 2005
($'000)

For the
12 months ended

31 March 2004
($'000)

Operating Revenue 270,469 249,411 247,068 254,783 284,214 269,597 257,361 237,786 222,402 203,070

EBIT  (31,040) 51,251 36,775 32,136 72,768 88,083 71,570 70,416 52,527 65,430

EBITDA 26,171 108,603 94,023 80,500 116,830 130,735 125,523 122,825 88,136 89,540

Net Earnings  (15,905) 18,362 4,142 15,382 33,144 46,149 41,276 34,932 24,576 42,852

Earnings per share (4.0) cents  4.0 cents  1.0 cents  3.6 cents  7.9 cents  10.9 cents  9.8 cents  8.3 cents  5.8 cents  10.2 cents

Return on equity (9.3%) 8.9% 2.1% 7.2% 15.2% 21.4% 19.9% 17.9% 13.2% 22.9%

Total Assets 439,069 518,839 504,054 508,137 502,410 415,554 424,619 424,173 405,623 384,245

Return on assets (8.2%) 6.5% 3.50% 5.1% 18.3% 26.3% 22.4% 25.2% 18.1% 22.7%

Current Ratio  0.83 times  0.77 times  0.46 times  0.50 times  0.68 times  0.58 times  0.67 times  1.10 times  1.15 times  0.81 times

Net Debt                    63,781 85,098 102,493 87,883 69,204 12,120 23,579 25,003 44,144 49,799

Gearing 23.0% 24.0% 30.0% 26.3% 22.3% 4.9% 9.6% 12.1% 22.4% 25.0%

Interest cover  (8.6) times  9.5 times  8.9 times  15.2 times  *  *  *  *  164.1 times  48.9 times

Net cash flow from
operating activities 92,739 78,949 76,082 72,340 62,201 94,196 119,786 99,483 89,750 75,089

Capital expenditure 52,429 27,699 73,376 63,920 69,489 53,184 82,311 34,292 32,721 30,804

Dividend per share $0.035 $0.02 $0.04 $0.07 $0.09 $0.07 $0.06 $0.06 $0.06 $0.05

Net Tangible Asset
per share $0.35 $0.44 $0.51 $0.58 $0.57 $0.56 $0.53 $0.49 $0.47 $0.47

Market price per share $0.84 $0.75 $0.89 $1.00 $1.16 $0.91 $0.84 $ 1.00  $1.00 $1.03

Maximum market
price per share $0.89 $0.89 $1.01  *  *  *  *  *  *  *

Minimum market
price per share $0.70 $0.65 $0.88  *  *  *  *  *  *  *

Price Earnings ratio (21.0) times 18.8 times  89 times  27.8 times  14.7 times  8.3 times  8.6 times  12.0 times  17.2 times  10.1 times

Dividend Yield 5.4% 4.0% 3.4% 5% 6.9% 9.9% 7.1% 6.0% 6.0% 5.8%

For the
12 months ended

31 March 2012
($'000)

For the
12 months ended

31 March 2013
($'000)
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ATH Subsidiary Companies

Telecom Fiji Limited
Ganilau House
Edward Street
Private Mail Bag
Suva
Phone (679) 3304019
Fax (679) 3001765
Website: www.telecomfiji.com.fj

Vodafone Fiji Limited
168 Princes Road, Tamavua
Private Mail Bag
Suva
Phone (679) 3312000
Fax (679) 3312007
Website: www.vodafone.com.fj

Fiji International
Telecommunications Limited
Mercury House
158 Victoria  Parade
G P O Box 59
Suva
Phone (679) 3312933
Fax (679) 3301025
Website: www.fintel.com.fj

Fiji Directories Limited
Third and Fourth Floors,
Telecom New Wing Building
Edward Street
P O Box 16059
Suva
Phone (679) 3311000
Fax (679) 3300004
Website: www.yellowpages.com.fj

Vodafone ATH Fiji Foundation
168 Princes Road, Tamavua
Private Mail Bag
Suva
Phone (679) 3312000
Fax (679) 3315907
Website:  www.foundation.vodafone.com.fj

Pacific  Emerging Technologies Limited
Level 4 General Post Office Building
Edward Street
Suva
P O Box U43, USP, Suva
Phone (679) 3310025
Fax (679) 3310021



Registered Office
2nd Floor, Harbour Front,
Rodwell Rd, Suva, Fiji.
P.O.Box 11643, Suva, Fiji.
Phone (679) 3308700
Fax (679) 3308044
Website:  www.ath.com.fj




